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Group Executive Chairman’s Statement

Introduction

CareTech has continued fo demonsirate the significant resilience of ils business model by daiivering strong growth in all of its key
performance indicators,

On 27 September 2022, CareTech was dalisted from the Altemative Investment Market ("AIM') of the London Stock Exchange,
lieving buen lisled far 17 years. Mysell and my brather, Haroon Sheikh, are controling shareholdars and remair fully involved in the
management of CareTech, and expect (o do so along with the existing senior management team.

Under our new ownership stnrcture, it is intended that CareTech will continue its support for those with physical and leaming
disabiliies, advancing skills development for the care sector, and supporting locat communities.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank ail our staff wha have worked tirefessly through the year, enabling us ta deliver excelfent
care o individuals in our services.

Performance
The financial performance and further details of the delisting are discussed in the Strategic Report on page 5.
Dividend

The Board of CareTech Holdings Limited (formerly CareTech Holdings PLC) did not recommend the payment of an intetim
dividend during the year (2021: 4.6p).

Due to the Group being acquired by Amalfi Bidco Limited on 27 September 2022 the Board have not recommended the
payment of a final dividend (2021: 9.5p).

Board

Details of the curment Directors are set out on pages 1210 13,

Corporate Governance

The Board firmly believes that an effective corporate governance framework is essential te underpin the success of the busineSs,
supporting ranagement while ensuring an appropriale level of challenge and exercising proper oversight while facilitaling decision-

making.

The Board is focused on taking steps to enhance standards of govemnance and aspires to adopt high standards of comorate
govemance.

The Board met B times during the year and focused primarily upon sirategic and policy issuss and is responsible for leadership of
the Group, implementing and monitoring effective controls to assess and manage risk, supporting the Group's Executive team to
formulate and execute the Group's strategy, monitoring the performance of the Group and setting the Group's values and
standaras.

During the year and prior to the delisting on 27 September 2022, best practice governance principles were adopted through a Care
Quality & Govemance Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Commitiee,

Care Quality & Govermance

The Committee met 4 times during the year. The purpose of the Committee is to lead the development of the Group's quality
strategy and be responsible for lhe strategic oversight and assurance of care standards across the Group. In particular, to hold the
Executive to account for the gavernance, fisk and assurance process in place to identify, mitigate and manage risk to maintain and
imprave the quality and safety of Group services. Delails of its membership are on page 13.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee held 4 meelings during the year. No Director attends any meeting relating to his or her own
remuneration. It holds respensibility for approving the remuneration and ather benefits for the Executive Directors and other senlor
executives of the Company. Details of its membership are on page 14.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the year.

Going concern

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adeguate resources to continue in operational existence for at

least 12 months from the date of approva)l of these financial statements. The Group therefore continues to adopt the going concem
basis in preparing the consolidated financial statemenls,
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The Directors have prepared cash fiow forecasts for the going concem pericd 1o 30 June which is 12 months from the date of
approval of these financial statements. On 7 October 2022, the Group's existing debt faclilies were refinanced through new cregit
facilities with Ares Management Limited in connection with Amalfi 8idco Limited's acquisition of the Group. The Graup will therefore
meet its day to day working capital requirements through its cash reserves, and intercompany bank and shareholder [oans. These
forecasts take into account the expectation in refation to occupancy, fee rates, resident mix, care hours and costs {including
agency), other costs and a full programme of maintenance cagital expenditure. In addition, subsequent to year end, a number of
properties have been utilised as part of a sale package, subject to long-ierm lease agreements. The proceeds generated of
£302.5m have been used to pay, In par, the new credit faciities with Ares Management Limited. Tha Board has alse modelled
several forecasts inclusive of downside sensitivities.

All forecasts, including the downside sensitivities and reverse stress test indicate that the Company will have sufficient cash
resources for the going concem peniod. In addition, there are a nunber of discretionary expenditures which could be Teduced i§
necessary, and sufficient assets on the balance sheet that could be used to raise addiional cash if required.

Consequently, the Directors are canfident that the Company will have sufficient resources to continue to meet its liabilities as they

fall dve for at least 12 months from the dats of approvai of ine financial statements and therefore have prepared the financial
statements on a going coneem basis.

Qutlook

CareTech enters the new financial year as a private company. We continue to believe we have a well-executed investment
strategy, which meets a critical social care need. Qur fundamentals remain strong and we rermain committed to providing high-
quality care to those we look after. Our batance sheel is underpinned by a significant property portioiio and strong cash generation.

We look forward 1o continuing to invest in the maintenance and enhancement of our existing estate as well as growing the
business through the opening of new, purpose built premium care facilities.

On behalf of the Board, | would like 1o express my sincere thanks to our staff who have worked tirelessly throughout the year,

enabling us to deliver excelient quality care, | am enormolisly proud particularly of cur front-line colleagues in delivering
Extraordinary Days, Every Day for our service users.

Finally, | would like to thark bath our former shareholders ard our new shareholders for their support, and my fellow Board
members for \heir cornmitment inroughout the year.

Favow, Slith

Farouq Shelkh OBE
Group Executive Chairman
26" June 2023
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Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

The Directors present their strategic report for the year ended 30 September 2022.
Principal activity

The CareTech family of companies provide high-quality care and support across the whole social care spectrum for children and
adults below retirament age.

Our Adults Services support people with leaming disabilitiss, individuals who have or are recavering from mental iliness, people with
autistic spectrum disorder, individuals who have one or more physical impaiments and provide care and rehabilitation for acquired
brain injury (“ABI"). We deliver services in residential, day care and a wide choice of creative supported living settings.

Our Children's Setvices - recognised nationally for their expertise - caver assessment, residential care, education and fostering
options. We specialise in supporting children and young pecple with very complex needs including those with challenging behaviours,
sexually offending behaviours, or who have emotional and behavieural disorders. We carefully and professionally suppaort any child,
irespective of their need for being in social care, and our comprehensive high-guality services include the UK's langest portfolio of
specialist schools and colieges.

CareTech has pioneered outcomes and progression along the Care Pathway including transition services for young people leaving
care and for adults who are making the move into their cwn home after a lifetime in residential or institutional settings.

We are accelerating digilal adoption within the Group and blending care and technology in new meaningful ways so even people
with the most complex of needs can paricipate and flourish in scciety.

The Group's strategy is focused on being a leading intemational, integrated provider of specialist social care services for children
and adult’'s defivering high quality and care excellence.

COn 27 June 2022, Amalf Bideo Limited ('Bidco') (a newly formed company indirectly owned by joint offerors Sheikh Heldings
Group (Investments) Limited, Belgravia Investments Limited and Kensington Capital Limited, and funds managed by THCS IV GP
S.ar.l. and TH Management IV 8.4 r.). and advised by THGP Advisory Limiled) and the independent committee of the board of
CareTech, consisting of Jamie Cumming, Dr Moira Livingston and Adrian Stone, announced they had reached agreement on the
terms of a recommended offer by Bidco for the entire issued, and to be Issued, ordinary share capital of CareTech,

The offer was implemented through a count-sanctioned scheme of armangement (‘Scheme') and shareholders received 750 pence
in cash for each share. As an allernative, shareholders ware alsa able to elect to receive a partial altemative offer in lieu of all or
part of the cash consideration. On 8 September 2022, the Schemea was approved by the requisite majorities of scheme
sharehoiders at the Court Meeting and the resolutian in cannection with the implementation of the Scheme was passed by the
requisite majority of CareTech shareholders at the General Meeting.

On 27 September 2022, 1t was announced that the Scheme had become effective and the entire issued and to be issued ordinary
share capital of CareTech was owned by Bidco with Jamie Cumming, Moira Livingston and Adrian Stone resigning as non-
executive directors. Trading in CareTech shares on AIM was suspended on 27 Seplember 2022 with cancellation of admission to
trading on 28 September 2022,

As a result, the existing bank loans will be settled as noted in the subsequent events nole, and ali existing share schemes will vest
in accarding the with scheme rules as detaled in note 22 to the financial stalements.

Fair review of the business

Following CareTech's first intemnational investment in the UAE, the Group announced two further acquisitions curing the year to
develop a whole person care pathway of services for people with complex needs and disabilities. Dmetco-Bayti is a well-
established home heatthcare provider managing the daily health and social care neads of its patients acress the UAE and the
Wellness Group provides integrated physical health consultations and surgical services. Both acquisiticns will expand the care
pathway lo encompass specialisl health and social care services in home care environments, and physical health¢are services In

specialist clinic settings.

The Graup also announced that it had acquired REHAVISTA GmBH ('REHAVISTA') in November 2021 which provides a
significant opportunity for Smartbox {o expand the availability of their products in Germany. This centinues CareTech's ambiticn to
develop a sector first Digital Pathway-of services. Further expanding on the existing partnership between Smartbox and
REHAVISTA, and across Smartbox’s global customer base, which spans more than 30 languages and 45 distributors.

Group revenues increased £21.6m ta £510.7m, an increase of 4.4% driven by fee rate inflation and the acquisitions made during
the year. Occupancy decreased during the year with the effacts of labour shortages and the emergencs of the highly transmissible
Omicron variant in early December 2021 leading to challenges around staff absentees and higher agency costs. Accardingly,
COVID-19 casts have occurred which were in part been funded by Gavernment Social Care support through the Infection Control
and Testing Fund and Workforce Recruitment and Retention Fund.

From 1 April 2022, the Group increased the minimum national hourly rate to £9.75 which is above the National Living Wage hourly
rate of £3.50. Despite inflationary pressures, Local Authorities recognise that front line sta¥f are an inlegral part of the quality of care
delivery and the Group was able to cover the majority of additional costs.

As shewn the Group’s Profit and Loss Account on page 18, tumaver for the year ended 30 September 2022 amounted to £510.7m
(2021: £489.1m) and gross profit to £162.8m (2021: £165.7mj). Operating prafit of £25,5m (2021: £79.5m) included exceptional
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casts of £15.2m telating to the delisting dur‘lng the yeat and £5.8m of costs as a consequence of COVID-19, which have been in
part funded by £1.6m of Govemment Social Care suppori (2021: £11.7m income as a result of a release of sleep-in provisions and
a £5.8m gain cn bargain purchase) and amortisation of £13.2m (2021: £10.2m). The net profit of £6.5m (2021: £35.3m, is stated
after non-cash charges including an interest charge of £16.1m, (2021: £13.3m) and taxation of £2.9m (2021: £30.5m).

The net debt position of the Group at the year end comprised the following elements:

2022 2021

£m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 27.3 65.6
Bank loans (320.3) (317.9)
Shareholder loan {0.1) (1.8)
Lease and hire purchase contracts (4.8) (4.6)
Net debt at 30 Septemb (298.0) {258.7)

Net assets at the year end increased to £410.9m {2021: £380.9m). The reconciliation of the movement is shown in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 27.

Principal risks and uncertainties & key performance indicators

Social care is a karg-term contract with the public sector and is inherently free of risk so long as quality is maintained, oulcomes are
achieved and the price is right. However, social care does carry risks that will always be at the forefront of our minds. The most
obvious nisk Is that a tragedy will occur and that the Group will be held to blame. We take that risk very seriously. Our principal rigk
management strategy is to ensure that our staff are recruited well, are trained and supervised properly and are subject to rigorous
quality oversight. In addition, we knaw from axperiance, that processes and documentation must be very carefully observed and
constantly reviewed to ensure that it protects service users and provides tha Group with a defendable position in the case of tragedy.

These matters, along with general safeguarding are subject to intense scrutiny by our in-house compliance and quality teams and
Board level oversight.

Managing and mitigating risk

All providers of health and soclal care are conscious of the need for management vigilance and the requirement to have a tharolugh
commitment to delivering care that is safe and of a high quality. CareTech's approach to quality and safe service delivery is
characlerised by a mixture of a dedicated compliance team camying out regular inspection audits and a commitment to building
quality into everything we do. We maintain a Risk Register, which includes all key risks and how these are mitigated through quality
of service and goad communication with service users and local authorities. The Risk Regisler is reviewed monthly.

We thoroughly review our operations on a regular basis and, in conjunclion with the approach outlined above, The Directors
believe this achieves a robust assessment of principal and emerging risks.

Our principal risks

The market for the provision of social care services continues to be dynamic, presenting both risks and opportunities. The overall
number of people needing support will increase, and a smaller proportion of them will be placed into residential services. Those who
do need a residential care solution will have more complex needs and are Jikely to require a wider range of services, including clinical
and therapeutic support. Our operational management teams are already focusing on the delivery of high-quality care. As we move
forward this wilt become increasingly specialised with the benefit of professional qualified care co-ordinators wha will prepare and
direct personalised care plans within the services,

Most service users will be supported in their own homes through demiciliary care or in more formal supported living arangements.
This is a major growth area for care providers and CareTech already has a solid reputation for its high guality and flexible solutions.
We are building this 1o a higher level and refining our organisational structure to build more rapidly on our successes to date.

Recruiting and retaining high-quality staff

The Group seeks 1o attract and retain staff threugh:

. Responding to staff tumover, vacancy rates and staff engagement surveys
+  Maintaining competitive pay and benefits

. Positive warkplace and culture

. Investment in our staff through training

+«  Overseas recruitment to secure healthcare workers from outside the EJ

. Bank staff or agency workers

KPIs used:
- Annualised retention rate” — 71% (2021: 71%)

* The number of employees working for the year to 30 September 2022 as a percentage of the number of employees at 1 October
2021.
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Maintaining high levels of staff retention underpins our high-quality service ratings. Our retention rate compares favourably to the
industry average. The effects of the pandemic have stabilised as have retention rales. Recruitment remains a challenge in line with
a UK-wide ongoing concem,

Compliance and Regtiation

Legislation and regulation will change and become more onerous, complex and demanding and is therefore considered an area of
polential sk OF (R Larolp angd ITs operalions,

To manage this nsk, the Group has:

»  Adedicated comphliance team that monitor regulatory developments and advises the Group thereon

. Regular mandatory training for all staff across a range of regulatory compliance areas e.g. data protection, health and safety
and safeguarding

«  Compliance intemal audit team camying out site visits
. External independent inspection of our services (NYAS)
= CQGC! Ofsted inspections

KPIs used:

- Reguiatory compliance (extemal) — CQC 85% (2021: 86%) and Ofsted 79% (2021: 80%)
The markets that CareTech operates in are regulated by Ofsted and the CQC and their equivalents in Scotland and Wales. Each
facility is inspected and given a score, with a range of outcomas from 'Outstanding’, 'Good’, ‘Requires Improvement’ to lnadequate’
{or equivalent).

Whilst both CQC and Ofsted regulatory ratings compare favourably to the industry average, we remain committed to providing the
highest quality of care across all our services and have comprehensive improvement plans in place.

Sarvice Offar and User needs

The service offer Mas to be provided to meet the needs of the commissioners al a fair price and this is coming under increased
scrutiny as commissioners regulary review value for money.

To mitigate this risk, the Group engages frequently and proactively with our commissioners at a local level and strategically at
regional and national ievels.

KPI used;
- Occupancy rates* - 76% (2021 78%)

* Occupancy is the total number of Adult and Children's Services users placed in services that were open throughout the year.

Occupancy has remained broadly unchanged with the slight decrease following seme of the recruiting challenges facing both the
industry and UK wide ongoing concems.

Future Prospacts

The demand for our services remains high, with those we care for presenting needs tending to be ever greater. Qur growth is
focused on meeting the demands of the market through continuing to invest in the maintenance and enhancement of our existing
services as well as gtowing the business further through the opening of new sites.

The Gulf markets of the Middle East represents an untapped need. Through our presence in the AS Group we are well positioned
to capitalise in the region. Grawth in service developments next year will include home health and social care services, physical
healthcare and special education needs schoot development,

Our digital technology division has demonstrated the need for innovative technology to suppan staff with solutions enabling greater

quality care for our service users. We believe there is an enommous digital innovation opportunity and this wili be a focus and
investment in the coming years.
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Statement by the Directors in performance of their statutory duties in
accordance with s172(1) Companies Act 2006

The Board of Directors of CareTech Holdings Limited (formerly CareTech Haldings PLC) eonsider, both individually and together,
that they have acled in the way they consider, in good faith, would he most likely to promote the success of the Company for the
benefit of its members as a whole (having regard to the stakeholders and matters set out in s172(1)(a-f) of the Act) in the decisions
taken during the year ended 30 September 2022,

In doing s, the Direclors have givén regard to:

The likely consequences of long-term decisions;

The interests of the Company’s employees;

Tha need to foster relationships with our suppliars, customers and others;

The impact of the Company’s operations on the community and environment;

The desirability of the Group maintaining a reputation for high standards of businass conduct; and attribute importance to
behaving as a responsible business; and

»  The need to act fairly between members of the Group

The Board considers and has discussed information from across the prganisaltion to enable it to undarstand the impact of the
Group’s operations, and the inlerests and views of our key stakeholders. It aiso reviews strategy, financial and operational
performance as well as information covering areas such as key risks, and legal and regulatory compliance. Engagement with the
Company’s main stakeholder groups, including our people, these we care for, our communities, suppiiers and regulators are
summarised below.

Our People

Our staff are the bedrock of the organisation and defiver great quality care for the people we support, We employ over 11,000
qualified and skilled front-line staff including care warkers, tsachers and managers. They are supparted by a prafessional team of
clinical and therapeutic staff, back-cffice and support services. The care, commitment, passion empathy and professionalism of our
staff are critical to the success of our Group and the care we provide. The Board recognises the increasing importance of engaging
with its workforge to maintain strang operational delivery. We therefore strive 1o maintain and create further opporunities to
generate dialogue between management and our employees.

How we engage

Empioyee engagement ievels are recognised as central 1o how we operate and are regularly discussed and considered across ail
levels of management. Including quality of leadership across CareTech employees, and being informed on a broad range of
subjects including cotlaboration, working conditions, roles and responsibilities, people development, reputation, benefits and
rewards, diversity and inclusion, operationa! excellence and respensible business.

Qver the 1ast year, wa have reduced the time to hire through additional recruitment resources, including the intraducing the new
Engagement officer roles. We also invested in our Applicant Tracking Syslem digital recruitment tool, providing a more efficient
process for applicants. CareTech have beeh developing a new Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) strategy, working with
colleagues ta ensure that this vital issue is addressed across all elements acrass the business, Allied to our cammitment to EDI,
we have this year developed our alternalive recruitment pathways scheme, seeking to develop recruitment pathways to social care
cateers for those under-represented in the sactar but atsa who face significant challenges in securing employment more generally.

Chaired by an Executive Director, the Staff Consuitative Committee is made up of 40 membars of a cross section of diverse
employees and act as a conduit between the staff and the Board on shared employment and service issues that matter to
employees.

Iimpact an Board decisions

The Board have increased invesiment in wellbeing support for colleagues and ongoing work continues to create a culture of
recognition and praise.

QOur approach to looking after people in our care

We have cantinued Yo sirive for long-asting improvermnents in our services in @ way that is consisient with the interesis and priorities
our stakeholder community. As always, the drving force underpinning the Group’'s operations is the delivery of the highest quality of
care to those in qur care.

As the Group grows, we strive to maintain a culture that never forgets the important relationship we have with the pecple we support.
We seek to nurure these reiationships and see them as pannerships of mutual interest and respect, with cuf person-cantred
approach ensuring people’s interests are safeguarded and vulnerabilities minimised.

The further expansion of our Care Pathway seeks to provide “‘whole of life” of solutions 1o the needs of the people we support,
maximising independence where possible by encouraging education, promoting choice, being proactive with family members,
providing training for employment where feasible and nurturing personal ambition where helpful. In the year we have celebrated the
achigvernents of those we suppart across the country, including holding our annual Art competition and ‘Blooming Marvellous'
gardening competitions.
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We are determined fo preserve the dignity of those we care for and fully support Government iniliatives ta this end. We see making
each day an extraordinary day for those in our care a vital ingredient to their, and our, suceess.

From the first time we meet each person we start to gain an understanding of not only their needs which are often complex and
challenging, but most importantly to undarstand their future aspirations so that a plan to support them in our care is individual and as
best informed as possible. Where present, parents (carers/guardians), social workers and other professionals play a key role in
supporting the development of their individual care plan.

A person’s rare plan is dynamic, informed and updated by ‘their voice’ together with the professionals supparting them in their
placement, alongside their social worker (and other extemal professionals) as well as advocacy services and independent reviewing
professionals who visit services regularly. This mulli-disciplinary approach ansures that the cara plan is as rich and well informed as
possible. Where communicalion is a challenge for a person, the use of apprepriate communication techniques are impertant, from
compuler assistive devices, such as those provided by our Smarbox GRID technology, to British Sign Language and Makaton to
ensure their voice is heard. We have implemented Mind of My Own across all our Children's Service to enable us 10 capture and
“listen” to the voice of the young people in our servicas and respond to their individual needs.

We spend time to explain how each person’s voica can be heard, and whal they should do if they think that this is not happening.
They are reminded of this on an ongoing basis.

How we engage

Each person is formally reviewed against clear progress targets being set by the team supporting the person. We utilise surveys, in
the form of simple questionnaires, to ensure that our provision is meeting the needs of those in our care. As part of the regulatory
inspection process, inspeciors meel with the people in our care and ask for their feedback, which is included as a key part of the
inspection report,

We support visiting and contact with parenis appropriately and as agreed as part of any care plan.

A key ingredient for ensuring we have the impact we strive for is to hear the voice of those we care for, Mind of My Own is an award-
winning digital app that helps children and young people express themselves and communicate with professianais, making sure
everyone is heard, Over the past 18 months, we have implemented Mind of My Own across all relevant services and the platform is
now embedded and fast becoming business as usual. Cumulatively, we have received over 6,000 statements from young people in
our care through the app.

Impact on Board decisions

The Board receives regular feedback from our service users through Board meetings and divisional reviews and prioritises
continuing to ensure that we work towards the aspiration of each person by making every day an extracrdinary day and celebrating
their successes,

Qur Commissioners

The commissioners in local authorties and health bodies across England, Scotland and Wales are key stakehalders for CareTech.
The people in our care are typically referred by a social worker or case manager and access 1o our services is purchased through
the authority's respective commissioning teams, The funding of placements is not always met by social care; health commissioners
support the payment of any ‘health’ component of a care package. Effective engagement and communication with thesa stakeholders
is & priority for the Group.

All staff at CareTech interface in some way either directly or indirectly with local autharities and other commissioners. The Group's
business development teams have overall responsibility to ensure that engagement and communication are effective, and, together
with operational colleagues, ensure that the Board is fulty aware of commissioning trends, Contact with local authorities is at least
daily across the Group. This ranges from the daily partnership working with sociat work teams to ensure that the needs of people in
our care are being met, to formal placement and business reviews. These reviews involve our core staff, senior operational
colleagues and Directors, depending on the meetings' requirements.

The demonstration of value for the services that the Group provides is objective, and this is demonstrated individually through
placement reviews and collectively at a service level review. The sharing of regulatory reports and those conducted by independent
visitars allow the ongoing quality assurance of our services to be shared.

How we engage

CareTech's services are present on a multitude of purchasing framewcrks across England, Scotland and Wales. These
pracurement tools allow providers through a combination of quality and fees to becomne a recognised provider aligned 1o their
provision typa. This provides a purchasing mechanism to allow the Group to access placement refesrals for people whose
needs could be met by our services. The referral and placemeant of people takes place daily across the Group. This process
involves many people from commissioners and Graup staff, with a single focus on understanding and being able to arliculate
how the needs of a person can be met, Operational calleagues have had regular contact with commissioners regarding each
placement. Alongside this, there are formal reviews to understand the progress of each person placed and determine any
changes lo an individual's care plan.

impact on Board decisions

The Board review the sufficiency requirements of commissianers and this feedback allews the planning of future services.
Our Regulators
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CareTech operates in a highly requlated environment. The Group invests heavily in #s internal compliance capacity and has
established open, transparent, and positive refations with care, healtn and education regulators in the national and international
environments within which we cperate.

CareTech sits within the CQC "Market Oversight' gioup and complies fully with the financial, business and care regulatory
requirements that market oversight brings. i

Regulatory requirements dfffer across both the sectors that we operate in, but alsa in the devolved administrations of Scotland and
Wales. The Group's intemal compliance team supporis the business to understand and interpret the extemnal regulatory landscape
and ensure continued compliance with all ragulatery requiraments. The ratings across the Group continue to campare well with other
providers.

Alongside sngagement with regulalors, lhe Group furlher enhanced strategies and policies for effective data protection information
gavermnance, and in meeting heatth and safety requirements.

How we engage

CareTech have national relalionship meetings with Olfsted and CQC on a regular basis. There is regular dialogue at reglonal and
local level on services quality and compliance with participation in consultations and ieaming events with all regulatory bodies.

Impact on Board decisions

The Board regularly reviews feedback from our Regulators and any proposed changes to the regulatory environment when
considering making its decisions.

Our Suppliers

The Board is mindful of the importance of ensuring that the Group is able to scurce 2 broad range of high-quality products from a
base of weli-respected suppliers and of being a trusted partner for our suppliers.

Hew we engage

Supplier relationships are primarily managed by our property and procurement team with payment practices monitored on &
mentnly basis. Suppliers must demonstrate thal they operate in accordance with recognised standards that uphold human
rights and safety and prohibit medem slavery.

Impact on Board decisions

Members of the Executive team liaise with key suppliers and inform its decision-making process.

Qur Communities and environment v

The company's commitment lo respansible businress and public reporting an its on its Environmental, Sogial and Governance
(ESG) commitments is undiminished. Strategic oversight of our sustainability agenda is provided by our new ESG Committee,
chaired by our Group Sustainability Direttor.

Purple, is a thought leader at the farefrant of changing the disability conversatian far disabled people in businesses,
communities and govemment. The aim is o move the conversation from ane anchored in welfare charity and vulnerability ta
ane cf value contribution and opportunity.

Haow we engage

‘The CareTech Foundation was established in 2017 to champion and support the social care sector, care workers and those
living in care through four grant streams. ’

The Purple Tuestiay campaign nas grown significantly and in 2022 went glabal with events being held simuitaneousty in four
continents.
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Impact on Board Decisions

ESG has become part of the core Board agenda to enable its decision making process.

As a result of these aclivities, the Board has an overview of engagement with stakeholders, and other relevant factors, which
enables the Directors to comply with their legal duty under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006.

Approved by the Board on 26" June 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

¥ arsiy, Slaitle

Farauq Sheikh
Chairman
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Directors’ Report for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

The Directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 30 Septernber 2022,
Business review and future developments

The results for the financial year ended 30 September 2022 are set ou! in the consclidated statement of comprehensive income
detailed on pages 23 to 24. Revenue for the year was £510.7m with operating profit for the year of £25.5m and prefit before tax of
£9.4m. Research and development undertaken by the Group is detailed in note 12.

The company has chosen in accordance with Companies Act 2008, s. 414C{11) to set out in the company's sirategic report
information required by Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regutations 2008, Sch. 7 to be
contained in the directors’ report.

CareTech has established a reputation as a high-quality provider of care and support across the whole social care spectrum for
children and adults below relirement age. The Group has invested heavily in the portfolio and workforce in order to ensure it offers
the best possible enviranments in which to deliver high quality care. We are driven by our purpose to enabie children, young people
and adulls with complex needs ta make their own life chaicas, and build canfidence and independence ta live, leam, thrve and
engage in their families and communilies for more independent futures that meet their aspirations.

CareTech has embarked on a buy, build and pariner roadmap ta develop a seclor first Digital Pathway of services with the aim to
level the playing field for people with disabiliies and complex needs.

Share listing and scheme of arrangement

On 27 June 2022, Amalfi Bidco Limited {‘Bidco’) (a newly formed company indirectly owned by joint offerors Sheikh Holdings Group
(invastments) Limited, Belgravia Investments Limited and Kensington Capital Limited, and funds managed by THCS IV GP S.a r.l.
and TH Management IV S.a r.l. and advised by THCP Advisory Limited) and the independent committee of the board of CareTech
Holdings PLC, consisting of Jamie Cumming, Dr Moira Livingston and Adrian Stone, announced they had reached agreernent on
the terms of a recommended offer by Bideo for the entire issued, and o be issued, ordinary share capital of CargTech.

The offer was implemented through a court-sanctioned scheme of arrangement (' Scheme'} and shareholders received 750 pence in
cash for each share. As an altarative, shareholders wena also abla to elect to receive a partiat alternative offer in lieu of all or part
of the cash consideration. On 8 Septembar 2022, the Scheme was approved by the requisite majorities of schema shareholders at
the Court Meeting and the resolution in connection with the implementation of the Schemea was passed by the requisite majority of
CareTech sharehalders at the General Meeting.

On 27 September 2022, it was anncunced that the Scheme had become effective and the entire issued and to be issued ordinary
share capital of CareTech was owned by Bidco with Jamie Cumming, Mgira Livingston and Adrian Stane resigning as non-executive
directors, Trading in CareTech shares on AIM was suspended on 27 Septernber 2022 with cancellation of admission to trading on
28 Septemnber 2022.

As a result the existing bank loans will be settled as noted in the subsequent events note, and all existing share schemes will vast in
according the with scheme nules as detaited in nole 22 to the financial statements,

Directors of the Group
The Direciors who held office dunng the year were as follows:

Farocug Sheikh — Executive Chaiman

Haroon Sheikh — Chief Executive Officer

Christopher Dickinson - Company secretary and Chief Financial Officer

Mike Adams

¥Kar Monaghan (resigned 8 March 2022}

Moira Livingston {resigned 27 September 2022)

Jamie Cumming (resigned 27 September 2022}

Adrian Stane (appointed 14 February 2022 and resigned 27 September 2022)

Farouq Sheikh OBE, Group Executive Chairman
Founder.

Farouq has been a key architect in CareTech's growth, having co-founded the Group and involved in the vision and strategy from
the outset in 1993. With a background in iaw and a goad undersianding of finance and commerce, Farouq has been instrumental in
securing debt and equity funding for the Group as well as leading the management team in winning a number of long-term contracts
from local authorities and health commissioners.

Farouq is a leading business entrepraneur, phitanthrapist and investor and has initiated and overseen the successful equity
investments and {he subseguent exits for 3i Group PLC {in 1396 and 2002) and Barclays Private Equity (in 2002 ang 2005).
His intimate knowledge of the social care sector and his commercial and negotialing expertise has guided the Group's growth.

Farouq was honoured with an OBE in 2020 for fws services to social care, and has been presented with a number of Entrepreneur

of the Year awards by prestigious organisations including Laing and Buisson, Coutts Bank and Emst & Young. He also presents
widely at healthcare conferences, raising awareness of the specialist social care sector,
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As Patron and Enterprise Fellow of the Prince's Trust and a2 member of the Mosaic National Advisory Board, Farouq supports young
people by passing on his experience to inspire the next generation of entrepreneurs. He is 3 Founder Trustee of the CareTech
Charitable Foundation formed in 2017,

Haroon Shelkh, BSc Group Chief Executive Officer
Founder.

Haroan is amongst the most experienced CEQs in the health and social care sector and one of the UK's leading entrepreneurs and
philanlnuplsls, Alurig With i BISINEs Faroug, he co-founded Care | ech. As Group CEO he aclively leads the day-to-day running of
the Group and its inlemational expansion, and has been instrumental in assembling a highly talented leadership team. to support
the continued growth of the business. Harean brings commercial acumen, related industry experience and property knowledge. He
has a deep commitment and passion for delivering high-quality care and support to peaple with complex needs.

Hafmon is Patron and Enterprise Fellow of the Prince's Trust and is member of tha UK Advisary Council of the British Asian Trust
under the patronage of HRH The Prince of Wales.

In 2008, Haroon and Fareug were winners of the highly valued Coutts Family Business Prize and widely applauded for the quality
and social integrity of the business they created, In 2009 they were both finalists in the Emst & Young Entrepreneur of the Year
Awards and in 2016 they received the Outstanding Contribution Award at the Laing & Buisson Annual Healthcare Awards. In 2019
Haroon and Farouq were winners of the “Asian Business of the Year".

Haroon, a graduate of the University of London, is a Founder Trustee of the CareTech Charitable Foundation formed in 2017, and is
Chairman of the Trustees, working closely with the Foundation's CEO and independent Trustees.

Christophar Dickinson, Chief Financial Officer
Appointed as an Executive Director and Chief Financiat Officer in January 2020.

Prior to jeining CareTech, Chris was a Managing Direclor at Jefferies where he acted for the Group on its acquisition of Cambian.
Prior to Jefferies, Chris spent 14 years at 1 P. Margan advising on many significant M&A transactions and debl and equity raises.
Chris is a chartered accountant, having been admitted as 2 member of the ICAEW in 2004 and as a Fellow in 2014, and has a
degree in Computer and Management Science from the University of Warwick.

Mike Adams OBE, Executive Director
Appointed as an Executive Director in June 2010.

Mike has a sighificant track record in the social care, health and disability sectors. He is CEO of Purple Zest Limited, a Group disability
business, and an Executive Director of CareTech. In previous roles he was Direclor of the Nationa! Disability Team, responsible for
policy and practice for disabled students in higher education; Director of Cperations for the Disability Rights Commission for two
years; and Chief Executive Officer of ecdp, an Essex based user-led disability organisation. Mike spent nine menths as acting Chair
of a large acute hospital trust in Essex and has previously chaired an expert panel on Access lo Work, the Govemment's flagship
disability employmenl programme. Mike has been awarded an Honorary Doctar of Education for disability leadership from Anglia
Ruskin University.

Mike was honoured with an OBE in 2012 for his services to disability and became a Trustee of the CareTech Charitable Foundation
in 2017.

The Board
The Board focuses primarily upon strateglc and policy issuss and is responsible far.

Leadership of the Group.

implementing and monitoring effective controls to assess and manage risk.
Supporting the Group Executive Team to formulate ang execute the Group's strategy,
Monitoring the performance of the Group.

Setting the Group's values and standards.

During the year the Board delegated certain matters to its four principle committees detailed below, due to the Group delisting on 27
Seplember 2022 these committees dissolved on the group delisting.

Care Quality & Govemance Committas
Professor Moira Livingston (Chair), Adrfan Stone, Jamie Cumring

Promotes a cuiture of high quality and the safe care of service users. Responsible for monitoring specific non-financial risks and
their agssociated processes, policies and controls.

Nominations Committae
Adrian Stone (Chair), Moire Livingston, Jamie Cumming

Responsible for ensuring our Board and its Commitiees have the right balance of skills, knowledge and experience and ensuring
adequate succession plans are in place.

Audit Committee
Adrian Stone (Chair}, Moira Livingston, Jamie Cumming
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Respansible for reviewing and reporting to the Board on the Group's financiai reporling, maintaining an appropriate relationship with
the Group's auditor and monilonng the intemal cantrol systems.

Remuneration Committee
Jamie Cumming (Chair), Moira Livingslon, Adnan Stone

The role of the Remuneration Committee includes details of Directors’ remuneration, shareholdings gnd share aptions scheme
information. A key Group strategy is to attract and retain talented and commutted staff at every leve! of the business and the
Remuneration Committee aims to foster remuneration philosophy, policies and procedures to achieva this.

Staff Consultative Committee

The aim of the Staff Consuitative Committes is to monitor and facilitate workforce engagement within the Group in order 1o foster
a meaningful dialogue between the Board and its employees and the awareness of employee maltters will aid the Board's
decision-making process.

Dividends
Dividends of £15.0m have been paid by Ceretech Holdings Limited during the year (2021: £14.4m).

Due to the Group being acquired by Amalfi Bidco Limited on 27 September 2022 the Board have not recommended the payment
of a final dvidend (2021: £9.9m).

Directors’ insurance

The Company maintains appropriate Directors’ and Cfficers’ liability insurance, as permitted by the Companies Act 2008,
Financlal instruments

The Group is exposed to a combination of price, credit, interest rate, foreign exchange and cash flow risks. The Group uses
financial instruments inciuding cash, borrowings and interest rate swaps, the main purpose of which are ta raise finance far the
Group's activities and to manage interest rate risks, Disclosures in respect of these instruments are set out in note 26 to the
finangial statements.

Political donations
The Group made no political denations during the year.

Employees

The Directors recognise the benefits which arise from keeping employees informed of the Group's progress and plans and
through their participation in the Group's pertormance. The Group is therefore committed to providing its empioyees with
information on a regular basis, to consulling with them on a regular basis so that their views and/or concerns may be considered
in taking decisions which may affect their interasts, and to encouraging their participation in schemes through which thay will
benefit from the Group's progress and profitability. The Group aims to foster a working environment in which all employees are
treated with courtesy and respect and seeks at all times to provide opporiunities to deveiop and reach thaeir full potential. The
Group established Sharasave share option schemes for eligible employees in both 2016, 2017 and 2020, details of which can
be found in note 22 along with options remaining on previous schemes. The Board feels that share ownership among employees
fosters team spirit and mativation and will contribute to the ultimate success of the Group. it is the Group’s policy 10 ensure that
disabled persons are lreated fairly and consistently in terms of recruitment, training, career development and promotion and that
their employment oppartunities shoutd be based on a realistic assessment of their aptitudes and abilities. Wherever possible, the
Group will continue the employment of persons who become disabled during the caurse of their employment through retraining,
acquisition of special aids and/or equipment cr the provision of suitable alternative employment. For further information please
see "Our peaple” on page 8 in the Strategic Report,

Modem Slavery Act 2015

The Modem Slavery Act 2015 came into force in October 2015 consolidating legislation surrounding modem slavery and human
trafficking. We have a zero-olerance approach towards modem slavery or human trafficking across all areas of our business
including in our supply chain and are commitled to acting ethically and with integnty thraughout all of our dealings.

We aim to work in partnerships with all of our contractors, suppliers and other business partners to ensure that they share and work
towards the same values we hold against slavery and human trafficking,

A full version of gur Anti-Slavery and Trafficking Statement can be found on our website,
Anti-bribery and corruption

The Group maintains a palicy for anti-oribery and carruption and has a zero tolerance towards such aclivities, and reqguires
compliance with the laws of the UK, including the Bribery Act 2010 in respect of Group conguct both in the UK and overseas.
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Intemally we operate a suite of policies that are embedded into our culture and help govem our activities. Examples of these include:

. Code of Conduct Policy, which sets out the bahaviours we expec! of our staff when acting for the Group.

¢ Recruitment Policy, ali of UK employees are recruited after a robust recruitment process in line with UK employment
laws and are required to undertake appropriate Disclosure and Barring Service checks.

«  Whistleblowing Policy, we want staff to feel confident and empowered to raise any issues or concerns and have a
whistieblowing policy in place. Our whistleblowing policy helpline is managed by a third-party provider, enabling staff to
raise concems about issues of safety or wrongdoing, anonymously if necessary. All such concems received through the
helpline are sent to the Head of Compliance for review, and fo ensure that they are appropriately investigated and
concluded. The Board is provided with updates on material whistleblowing events as they are reported from time to
time to the Executive Leadership Team.

Business relationships

For further information the Groups business relalionships please see ‘Qur suppliers®, “Regulators® and "Commissigners” on
pages 9 to 10 in the Strategic Report.

Post balance sheet events
Re-financing

On 27 September 2022, the Group was acquired by Amalfi Bidco limited and delisted from the Alternative Investment Market
(‘AIM"). Following delisting, the Group's current bank loans of £322.3m were fully repaid on 8 October 2022 and replaced
with intercompany loans from Amalfi Bidco Limited.

Cyber incident

The Group experienced a cyber incident on 4 January 2023, which had an impact an predominantly Cambian and By the
Bridge operating IT systems. On becoming aware of the cyber-attack, the Group's crisis response was immediately
launched, and its business continuity plans were successfully implemented. There has been no materal impact on the
provision of services and the Group believe there is no residual remaining threat as a resull of this incident.

The Group is aware of data exfiltration and this is subject to an ongoing investigation. The Group complied with its notification
obligations under applicable data privacy law including the Information Commissioners Cffice (ICO). The Group is
conperating fully with the ICO's investigation and understands that, if considered appropriate, the ICO has the ability to
impose sanctions or a penalty notice, neither of which can be currently fereseen or reliability estimated.

Acqguisition of Taik To Me Technologies

in June 2023, Smartbox Holdings acquired Talk To Me Technologies (TTMT), a Ieading supplier of Augmentative and
Alternative Communication (AAC). TTMT was founded in 2006 and headquartered in Cedar Falls, lowa. TTMT’s produce
line offars twelve AAC solutions including Wego, Zuvo and Eyespeak families of communication systems. TTMT is also the
creator of the Zoom, OnwWord, QuickStep, and Universal Care vocabulary page sets as weli as the Spark Symbol Set library.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, TTMT had $20.7m revenue and $4.8m EBITDA on a US GAAP basis.

Going concern

The Directors have a reasonable expeclation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in cperational existence
for at least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements. The Group therefore continues to adopt the
going concem basis in preparing the consolidated financial stalements. Further detalls are in note 1 to the financial
statements.

Disclosure of information te auditor

The directors confirm that so far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s

auditor is unaware; and the directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have laken as directors in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that tha company's auditor is aware of that information.
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Carbon Emissions

Caretech Haldings Limited (formerly CareTech Holdings PL.C) recognises that our global aperations have an environmental
impact and we are committed to monitaring andg reducing our emissions year-on-year. We are also aware of our reporting
obligafions under The Companies (Directors' Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report)
Regulations 2018. We continue lo report all material GHG emissions across our global operations.

2021 - 2022 PERFORMANCE

We have confinued to calculate our environmentai impact across the required scape 1,2 and 3 (selected calegories) emission
sources. On a location basis our emissions are 20,445 tCQOze, which is an average of 2.5 tCQ:qe per FTE, and an increase of
8% from FY2020-21. This increase was griven by scope 1, which saw an increase in fugl use at CareTech sites. This increase
is expected and reflects a retum to normatl operations after the COVID-19 pandemic and mare accurate granular data being
available in this reporting year. Betler quality data has aiso been captured for refrigerants, where the number of top ups,
indicating leaks, was captured in FY2021-22, increasing the accuracy of this faotprint.

Electricity consumption has had a small nse in consumgtion this year, yet the decarbonisation of the UK grid has resulted in a
decrease in location-based emissions overall. Conversely, market-based emissions have increased due to the increase in
carban intensity of residual, non-renewable, electricity in the UK market.

We have calculated emission intensity metrics on a per FTE basis, which we will monitor 1o track performance in our
subseqguent enviranmental disclosures.

ENERGY AND CARBON ACTION
In the pericd covered by the report, CareTech Holdings PLC has undertaken the following emissions and energy reduction
initiatives: .
. Increased the level of roof insulation at three of our sites, in order to improve the Energy Pedformance Ratings and
reduce annual carbon emissions.

s  Replaced 127 aged diesel vehicles with new mare fuet-efficient petrol and diesel vehicles RDE2 compliant vehicles.,

2021 - 2022 RESULTS
The methodology used to calculate the GHG emissions is in accordance with the requirements of the following standards:
*  World Resources Institute (WRI) Greenhouse Gas {(GHG) Protacol (revised version)
e Defra's Environmental Reporting Guidelines: Including Streamiined Energy and Carbon Reporting requirements
{March 2019},
* UK office emissions have been calcutated using the DEFRA 2022 and EU residual mix factar issue of the
conversion factor repository.
Follawing an operational control approach te defining our arganisational boundary, our calculated GHG emissions from

tusiness activities fall within the reporting peried of October 2021 to September 2022 and using reporting period of October
2020 to September 2021 for comparison,
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.Table 1 — Energy and carbon disclosures fbr repo;!ing year.

"1 Electricity and natural gas consumption have been restated following a review of the estlmatlon appruach undertaken in FY2020-21, 'I'h<s
has been updated tn improve the accuracy of the reported emissions.

* pue to the identlﬂcatunn of a miscalculation, other fuels have been restated fer FY2020:21 to reﬂect hlgher data accuraty.
- 3 company car and emp|ovee car mileage have been restated to include addmonal FYZOZD 21 mlleage data which was aot ava:lable at the
time of repumng ' . .
4 To ensure consistency across repon:ng years, FY2020-21 has been restated to |mprove the accuracy of the ernission ca!culatnons
asscc|aled non-renéwable elactricity consumption. - - .
- SEnergy repomng includes kWh from scope 1, scope 2 and scope 3 em plovee cars unlv las required bv the SECR regukation) -
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing tha Annual Report and the financia! statements in accordance with applicable law
and ragulations.

Company law requires the Directors o prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have
ta prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006. Under company law the Direclors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss of the company and Group for that
petied. In preparing these financial staterments, the Directors are raquired to:

- seject suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
— make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

-- state whether applicable UK adopted intemational accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material |
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; '

-~ prepare the financial statements on a gaing concem bas's unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the
Company will continue in business,

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the
assels of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other imegularities.

The Directors coafimm that:
— so far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware; and

- the Directors have taken all the steps tha! they ought to have taken as Directors in order lo make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that informatian.

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report in accordance with applicable law and regulations. Having taken

advice from the Audit Committee, the directors consider the annual repart and the financial statements, taken as a whale,

provides the information necessary to assess the company's performance, business model and strategy and is fair, balanced |
and understandable. !

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate ang financial information included on the

Company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of CareTech Holdings
Limited

QOpinion

We have audited the financial statements of CareTech Holdings Limiled (the 'parent company') and its subsidiaries (the
‘Group'} for the year ended 30 September 2022, which comprise the Consclidated Income Statement, the Consclidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolldated Statement of Financial Pasition, the Cansolidated Statemeant of
Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the Company Statement of Financial Posilion, 1he Company
Statement of Changes in Equity and notes 10 the financlal statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial staterments is applicable law
and UK-adopted intematicnal accounting standards. The financial repoting framework that has been applied in the preparation
of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial
Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework' applicable in the UK and Republic of Irelang (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our cpinion:

= the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent company's affairs as at 30
September 2022 and of the Group's profit then ended;

= the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK -adopted intermational accounting
standards;

+ the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practics; and

« the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirementis of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs {UK)) and applicable taw. Qur
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical
requirerments that are relevant to our audil of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. Wa believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion,

Conclusions relating to going concem

‘We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concem basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence ohtained, whether a materal uncerainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the group's and the parent company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conciude that a material
ungertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modity the auditor's opinion, Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
1o the date of our report. However, future events or conditions may cause the group or the parent company to cease to continue
as a going concem. ’

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inheren risks associated with the group’s and the parent
company's business model including effects arising fram macra-economic uncertainties such as Brexit and Covid-19, we
assassad and challenged the reasonableness of estimates made by the directors and the related disclosures and analysed
how those risks might affect the group's and the parent company's financial resources or ability to continue operations over the
going concern period,

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainlies refating to events or conditions that,

individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the parent company's ability 1o continue as a going
concem for 8 period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial slatements is appropriate.

The responsibilities of the directors with respect to gaing concem are described in the ‘Responsibilities of diractors for the
financial statements’ secticn of this report.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual

repor, other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, Our opinion on the financial statements does not
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cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not axpress any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the cther information and, in daing so,
consider whether the ather information is materially incansistent with the financial stalemants or aur knawledge oblained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identity such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinicns on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
in our apinion, based an the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

» the information given in the strategic report and the directars’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

» the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements,

Matter on which we are required 1o raport under the Companies Act 2006
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment abtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstataments in the strategic repon or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing 1o report in respect of the following matters in relation ta which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report
1o you if, in our opinion:

s adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or retums adeguate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

= the parent company financial statements are not in agreemant with the accounting records and returns; or
« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; ar

* wa have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit,

Respaonsibilities of directars for the financial statements

As explained mare fully in the direclors’ responsibllities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
ta fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the parent campany's ability
ta continue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the gaing concem basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operalions, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 1o issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misslatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, thay could reasonably be expected to influence the ecanomic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

A futher description of our respansibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financiat Reporting
Council's website al: www.irc.org uk/audilorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregulanties, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with taws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined abave, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the
inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that material misstatements in the financial statements may not be
detected, even though the audit is properly plannad and performed in accordanca with the 1SAs (UK).

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detegting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:
+« We enquired of managemenl, the finance team and the Board of Directors about the Group's and the parent company's
poticies and procedures relating to the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations and the detection
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and response 1o the risks of fraud and the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-
compliance with laws and regulations;

=  We obtained an understanding of the lagal and reguiatory framewarks that are applicable ta the Group and the parent
company. We determined that the most significant laws and regulations are those related to financial reporting and
taxation, being UK-adopted intemational accounting standards (for the Greup), Financial Reparting Standard 101 ‘Raduced
Disclosure Framework' (for the parent company), the Companies Act 2008, and the application of local sales and use taxes
@nd uvelseas Pel gl estdblishitients,

«  We enquired of management and the Board of Directors whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations and whether they had any knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

+ We assessed the susceptibility of the Group's and the parent company’s financial statements fo material misstaternent,
including how fraud might occur and the risk of management override of controls. Audit procedures performed by the
engagement feam inciuded:

- Enquiring of management, the finance team and the Board of Directors about the risks of fraud at the Group and the
parent company and the controls implemented to address those risks. Assessing the design and implementation of
controls relevant to the audit that management has in place to prevent and detect fraud, including updating our
understanding of the intemal controls over journal emiries, including those related to the posting of entries used to
record non-recuming, unusual transactions or other non-routine adjustments;

- Making specific inquiries of each member of the finance team lo ascertain whether they had been subject to undue
pressure or had been asked to make any unusual pastings or madifications to reports used in financial reporting;

- Idenlifying and testing journal entries, with selection based on risk profiling;

- Running specific keyword searches (including 1o related parties and of those previously connected to related entities)
over the joumal entry population to identify descriptions that could indicate fraudulent aclivity or management override
of controls. In addition, journal entries by user were evaluated to identify types of entries posted that were not in line
with expectations of their role. Unusual entries noted from these searches were agreed to supporting decumentation to
verify the validity of the posting;

- Planning specific procedures responding to the risk of fraudulent recognition of revenue;
- Assessing the disclosures within the annual report, including principal and emerging risks; and
— Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant accounting estimates.

+ In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding of the Group's and the parent
company's operations, including the nature of income scurces and of their objectives and strategies in arder to understand
the classes of transactions, account balances, expecled financial statement disclosures and business risks that may result
in risks of material misstatemant;

« These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statemsnls were free from fraud
or error. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulling
from error and detecting imegularities that result from fraud is inherently mare difficutt than detecting those that result from
error, as fraud may invoive collusian, deliberate cancealment, fargery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further
removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements,
the less likely we would bacome aware of it;

= The engagement patiner's assessment of the appropriatengss of the collective competence and capabilities of the
engagement tearn included consideration of the engagement team'’s understanding of, and practical experience with, audit
engagements of a simiiar nature and complexity, through appropriate training and participation; and

« Reguesting component auditors to identify any instances of non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations which
could give rise to a material misstatement. Communications with the component auditor included specific procedures 1o be
performed to address the fraud risk in revenue recognition and management override of contrels around journal testing,
inciuding the proceduras detailed above.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, In accardance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companias
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state la the company’s members those matters we are
required io state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by faw, we do nat

Caretech Holdings Limited (formerty CareTech Holdings PLCY Annual Report and Accounts 2022 21



DocuSign Envelope ID: EB6B549B-6D85-419A-8963-7CASB982D3D0

accept of assume responsibility 1o anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a bady, for aur audit work,

for this report, or far the opinions we have formed.

Gromt Thorwton Uk {1f

Rebecca Eagle

Seriior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Grant Thomtan UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
Lendon

26/6/2023
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 30 September 2022

2022 2021
Total Total
Note £000 £060
Revenue 5 510,715 489,119
Cost of sales {347,887} {323,410)
Gross profit 162,828 165,709
Other income 1,559 2,692
Administrative expenses (138,871} (88.897)
Cperating profit 25,516 79,504
Finance expenses 8 (16,121) {13,270)
Profit before tax 9,395 T 66,234
Taxation e (2,885) (30,906)
Profit for the year 6,510 35,328
Non-controlling interest (4,213) {3,420)
Profit for the year attributabte to
equity sharehalders of the Parent 2,297 31,908

Caretech Holdings Limited (formerly CareTech Holdings FLC) Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 September 2022

2022 2021
Total Tatal
Nate £000 £000
Profit for the year 6,510 35328
Item that may be subsequently
reclassifled to the intome statement:
Exchange movements on overseas net
assels 6,655 (424)
ttems that will not be reclassified to
income statement;
Exchange movements on overseas net
assets of
non-controling intarests 3,611 (32
Other comprehensive income for the
year 10,266 (744)
Total comprehensive income for the year 16,776 34,584
Non-controlling interest (7,824) (3.100)
Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to owners of the Parent 8,952 31,484
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Consalidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 September 2022

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 637,001 619,482
Right-of-use assets 11 125,276 123,231
Intangible assets 12 102,903 87.032
Goodwill 12 106,088 86,866
Deferred tax assel 18 448 -
971,716 916,611
Current assets
Inventories, 13 6,764 3,468
Trade and other receivables 14 93,121 71,606
Cash and cash equivalents 15 27,258 65,560
127,143 140,634
Total assets 1,098,859 1,057,245
Current liabilities :
Trade and other payables 18 80,197 70,011
tease liabifities . i 6,516 5,500
Loans and borrowings 17 319,963 -
Defered consideration payable 8,052 -
Contingent consideration payable - 3618
Deferred income 16 34,662 36,132
Corporation tax 10,243 17,753
459,633 133,012
Non-current liabilities
Loans and barrowings 17 528 319,654
Lease liabilities 1 121,308 118,781
Deferred tax liabilities 19 96,204 93,927
Provisions 20 5,258 5,540
Derivative financial iInstruments 21 4,994 5414
228,292 543,316
Total liabilities 687,925 876,328
Net assets 410,924 380,917
Equity
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Share capital

23 575 566
Share premiom 24 138,926 133,551
Shares held by Executive Shared Ownership
Plan 24 {12,837)
Merger reserve 24 115,847 125,842
Other components of equity 24 3,659 (371)
Retained garnings 24 114,170 121,619
Total equity attributable to equity
sharehalders of the Parant 383,172 368,370
Non-controlling interest 28 27,762 12,547
Total equity 410,934 380,817

These financial statements were approverd by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 268 June 2023 and were

signed on its behatt by:

Farsw, Slitle

Farouq Sheikh OBE

Group Executive Chairman
Company number. 04457287

Caretech Holgings Limited {formery CareVech Holdings PLC) Annual Repont and Accounts 2022

(lunis Dickinsom,

Christopher Dickinson
Group Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
as at 30 September 2022

Shares held
by Execitive Tokal
Shared Other attributable to Norn-
Share  Ownership Retained Merger companents ownersofthe  controling
Share capital premium Plan eamings ragerve of equity Paren interest  Talal equity
£000 £003 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 €000 £000

At 30 September 2020 565 133,879 (13,305) 107,120 125842 53 353,354 10,862 364,216
Profit for the year - - - 31,908 - - 31,908 3,420 35,328
Qther comprehensive income - - - - - (424) (424) {320 {744)
Total comprehensive income - - - 31,908 - {424} 31,484 3.100 34,584
Issue of ordinary sharas
net of transaction costs 1 472 - - - - 473 - 473
Redemption of shara options - - 488 - - - 468 - 468
Business combinations - - - - - - - 1,450 1,450
Equity-settled share-based
payments’ charge - - - 1,373 - - 1,373 - 1,373
Dividends - - - (14,431) - - (14,431}  (2,865) (17.,296)
Recagnition of liabilities with
nenscontroling interest (Note
28) - - - (4,35%) - - (4351) - {4351)
Transactions with owners
recarded directly in equity* 1 472 468  (17,403) - - {16,468) {1,415) (17,883)
At 30 September 2021 566 133,551 (12,837) 121,619 125842 (371) 368,370 12,547 380,917
Profit for the year - - - 2,297 - - 2,297 4,213 6.510
Other comprehensive income - - - - - £6.655 6,655 3,691 10,266
Total comprehensive income - - - 2,297 - 6,655 8,952 7,824 16,776
Issue of ordinary shares
net of transaction costs 9 537% -~ - - - 5,384 - 5,384
Redemption of share options - - 12,837 - - - 12,837 - 12,837
Business combinations (Note 4) - - - - - - - 6,184 6,184
Equity-settled share-based
payments’ charge - - - 6,223 - - 6,223 - 6,223
Dividends - - - {15969} - - (15,969) (2,487) (18,438)
Changes in shareholding of
subsidiaries {Note 24) - - - - - (2625) (2,625} (2,054) (4.879)
Equity cantributions by non-
cantrolling interest - - - - - - - 5,728 5,728
Transactions with owners
recarded directly In equity 9 5375 12,837 (9,746) - (2,625) 5,850 7,391 13,241
At 30 September 2022 575 138,926 - 114,170 125,842 3,659 383,172 27,762 410,934
*‘Restated see note 29
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 September 2022

2022 2021
Note €000 £000
Cash flows from aperating activities
Profit before tax 9,395 66,234
Adjustments for:
Financial expenses 8 16,121 13,270
Depreciation 16,11 19,611 19,519
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 13,151 10,273
Sleep-in provision - (11,777)
Gain on bargain purchase - {5,758)
Share-based payments' charge 22 6,223 1,373
Cther non-cash items - 587
Operating cash flows before movement in working capital 64,501 93,721
Increase in inventory {1,678) (651}
{Increase)decrease in trade and other receivables 1,892 {15,953}
Increase In trade and other payables 2,264 12,868
Cash inflows from operating activities 66,979 89,985
Tax paid (8,895) (6.038)
Net cash from operating activities 58,084 83,947
Cash flows from investing activitles
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 833 1,299
Business combinations net of cash acquired 4 (17,099) (5.447)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 10 {31,400) {28,993}
Acquisition of software 12 (3.425) (2,939)
Payment of contingent consideration (3,550) (1,503)
Met cash used in investing activities (54,641) (37,582)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds fram issue of sharas net of transaction costs 23 - 9414
Bank loan repaid 4 (4.251) -
Repayment of shareholder loans (1,610) -
Contributions by non-controliing interest 5728 -
Changes in shareholding in subsidiaries (4.679) -
Interest paid (14,028) (12,355)
Loan arrangement fees - (438}

Caretech Holdings Limited (formery CareTech Holdings PLC) Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Principal payment of lease (iabilities (5.747) B777)
Dividends paid to non-contraliing interest (2,467) (2,865}
Dividends paid 25 (15,968} (14.431)
Net cash used in from financing activities {43,023) (34,925)
Net increase In cash and cash equivalents (39,580) 11,440
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents 1,278 {153}
Cash and cash equivalents at * October 15 65,560 54,273
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 September 15 27,258 65,560
29
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Background and basis of preparation

CareTech Holdings Limited (the ‘Group’, ‘Campany', or ‘Parent Company') is a company registered and domiciled in England
and Wales. The consolidated financial statements of the Campany for the year enged 30 September 2022 comprise the
Campany and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 'Group'}). The consolidated financiai statements are presenlted in
pounds sterling, which is the Company's functional curency, rounded to the nearest thousand. The Parent Company financial
statements on pages 78 to 85 present information about the Company as a separate entity and not about Its Group.

The consolidated financial statements were approved for release by the Board of Directors on 26" June 2023,

Going concern

The Group's business activities together with the factors likely to affect its fulure development, performance and position are
set qut in the Graup Executive Chauman's Statement and Strategic Report on pages 3 to 4 and pages 5 1o 7 respectively. The
financial stalements have been prepared an a going concem basis which Ihe Directors consider lo be appropriale for the
following reasons,

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources (0 continue in operational existence for at
least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements. The Group therefore continues to adopt the gaing concemn
basis in preparning the consolidated financial statements.

The Oirectors have prepared cash fiow forecasts for the going concern periogd to 30 June which is 12 months from the date of
approval of these financial statements. On 7 October 2022, the Group's existing debt facilities were refinanced through new credit
tacilities with Ares Management Limited in connection with Amalfi Bidco Limited's acquisition of the Group. The Group will therefore
meet its day {0 day working capital requirements through its cash reserves, and intercompany bank and sharehcider loans. These
farecasis take into account the expectation in relation to cccupancy, fee rates, resident mix, care hours and casts {including
agency), other costs and a full programme of maintenance capital expenditure. In addition, subsequent to year end, a number of
proparties have been utilised as part of a sale package, subject to long-term lease agreements. The proceeds generated of
£302.5m have been used to pay, in part, the new credit facilities with Ares Management Limited. The Board has alsc madealled
several forecasts inclusive of downside sensitivities.

All forecasts, including the downside sensitivities and reverse stress tesl indicate that the Company will have sufficient cash
resources for the going cencem period. in addition, there are a number of discretionary expenditures which could be reduced if
necessary, and sufficient assets on the balance sheet that could be used tc raise additional cash if required.

Consequently, the Directars are confident that the Company will have sufficient resources ta continue to meet its liabilities as they

fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the fnancial statements and therefore have prepaned the finangial
staternents on a going concem basis.
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2, Accounting policies
(a) Applicable accounting standards

The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The accounting policies set out below have, uniess otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
Gruup fingiitidl stalemers,

New and amended standards and interpretations effective in the year

Title Subject Effective date per standard

Amendment to IFRS 16 'Leases’ COVID-19 — Related Rent COVID-19 — Related Rent Concessions 1 April 2021
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments lo IFRS 9, |AS 38, IFRS 7, IFR5 4 and IFRS 16  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform = Phase 2 1 January 2021

Issued IFRS not yet effective

Al the date of authonsation of these financial stataments, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards have been published by the 1ASB but are not yet effective and these have not been applied early by the Group.
Management anticipates that the following pronouncements relevant to the Group's operation will be adopted in the Group's
accounting policies for the first period beginning afler the effective date of the pronouncement, ance adopted by the EU:

Title: Subject Effective dale per standard
Reference to the Conceptual Framework Amendments to IFRS 3 ~ Ouldated reference 1 January 2022
Property, Plant and Equipment — [Amendments to IAS 16) Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022
Onerous Contracts — (Amendments to IAS 37) Cost of fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022

Annual Impravements ta IFRS Standards 2018-2020 Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16, 1AS41 1 January 2022
Amendments to IAS 1, presentation of financial statements on  Narrow scope emendments to 1AS1, clarity on 1 January 2024
classification of liabllitles classification of liabilities as current or han-cument

rfsngw scope amendments to |AS 1, practice statement 2 and  Improved accounting policy disclosures 1 January 2023
Amendments 1o 1AS 12 deferred tax related to assels and Recognition of deferred tax an transactions that, on 1 January 2023

liabilities arising from a single transaction initial recognition give rise to equal amounts of

taxable and deductible temporary differences

The Directors expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will not have a material impact on the financial information
of the Group in future reporting periods.

{b) Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that derivative financial instruments are stated at their
fair value and contingent consideration is stated at fair vatue through profit or loss.

(c) Basis of consalidation

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Parent Company and all of its subsidiaries as of 30 September 2022.
All subsigiaries have a reporting date of 30 Seplember, except for AS Investment Holdings Ltd, AS1 Investment Holdings Lid,
AS2 Investments Holdings Ltd, AS3 Investment Holdings Ltd, AS4 Investment Holdings Ltd, and their respective operating
entities in the United Arab Emirates {UAE) {the ‘AS Group'), which has a year end of 31 December as this their statutory
reporting date. All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised
gains and losses on transaclions between Group companies, Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are reversad
on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a Group perspeclive. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been ad]usted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by
the Group. Subsidiaries are anly consolidated where contral exists. Control is determined to exist when the Group has power
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over the investes, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and the ability to use its power
over the investee 1o affect the amount of the investor's retums.

(d} Property, plant and equipment

Praperty, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulaled depreciation and impairment lasses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes
the cost of materials and diract labour, any other coslts directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their
intended use and capitalised borowing costs. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is
capitalised as part of that equiprment.

The cost of replacing an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carmying amount of the item if it is probable
Ihat the future econamic benefits embodied within the component will fiow to the Group, and ils cost can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced compenent is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and
eguipmen! are recognised in the profil or iass as incurred,

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted far as separate items of
ptoperty, plant and equipment and depreciated separately.

Depreciaticn is charged to the consolidated income statament over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of
property, plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated. The Directors reassess the residual value estimates, particularty in
respect of properties, on an annual basis. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

. buildings 2% straight-line to residual value;
. fixtures, fittings and equipment 15% straight-line; and
. motor vehicies 25% reducing balance.

Assets under construction are not depreciated until they are available for use.

(e) Intangible assets and goodwill

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method as described in naote 4. Goodwill represents the
excess of the fair valua of the consideration over the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired on
acquisition of subsidiaries. identifiable intangibles are those which can be sold separately or which arise from legal rights
regardiess of whether those rights are separable.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impaimrment logses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is not
amartised but is tested annually for impairment.

Negative gsodwil| {bargain purchase credit) arising on an acquisition is racognised immediately in the consolidated income
statement,

Other intangfble assels that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses,
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Included within scftware are development costs in relation to software which are capitalised when the related projects meet the
recagnition crteria af an intemally generated intangible asset, the key criteria being as follaws:

(a} technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
(b} it can be demonstrated that the assel will generate probable fulure economic benefits;

(¢) adequate techmcal, financial and other resources are available to complete the development;
(d) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be reliably measured; and

(e} management has the ability and intention to use or sell the asset.

These projecis are designed to enhance the existing software within the Group. Salaries associated with development time and
direclly attnbutable overheads are capitalised within intangible assets.

Development costs recognised as assels are amertised on a straight-line basis over their expected ugeful [fe. Development
expenditure is only amortised over the perod the Group is expected to benefit and is subject to annual impairment testing.

The estimated useful life and arortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reparting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective hasis.
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Amortisation is charged to the consolidaled income statement on a siraight-ine basis over the estimated useful lives of
intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite, The estimated useful lives are as follows:

«  customer relationships 1~20 years;

+« brands 10-20 years;

. intemally developed software 5 years; and

« software and licences over the life of the contract

(A Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cast and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on a first-in first-out cost
basis.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call daposits with maturities of three manths or tess from inception.
{h) Financial instruments

Recaognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the caontractual provisions of the
financial instrument. Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant finaneing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accardance with IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for
transaction costs (where applicable}. Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for
fransaction costs unless the Group designaled a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, Subsequent measurement
of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.

Financial assets are derecognised when the coniractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the
financial asset end all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when It is extinguished,
discharged, cancelled or expires,

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following categeries upon initial
recagnition:

[l Financial assets at amortised cost.
« Financial assetsfliabilities held at fair value through profit or loss ((FVTPL').

FVTPL assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or ioss. The fair values of
financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where
no active market exists.

Al income and expenses relating lo financial assets that are recognised in the consalidated Income statement are presentad
within finance costs or finance income, except for impairment of frade receivables which is presented within other
administrative expenses.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured al amortised cost if the assets meet the fallowing conditions (and are not designated as
FVTPL):

« they are held within a business modei whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash fows;
and

« the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise 1o cash flows thal are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is omitled where
the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group's cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this
category of financial instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than 'hold to collect’ or ‘hald to coltect and sell’ are
calegarised at fair value through profit and less. Further, imespective of business model financial assets whose cantractual
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cash fiows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall
into this categoty.

Assels in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit ar loss. The fair values of financial

assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation {echnique where no
active market exists.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include borrowings. trads and other payables and derivative financial instruments. Financial
liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest methad, except for financial liabilities held for
trading or designated at FVTPL, that are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or l0sses recognised in the consolidated
income staternent. All derivative financial instruments that are not designated and effective as hedging instruments are
accounted for at FVTPL,

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument's fair value that are reported in consalidated income
statement are included within finance costs or finance income.

From time 1o time, the long-term debt held by the Graup are either refinanced as these come 1o maturity, or the margin on
these facililies moves in line with the ratio of the Group's net debt ta adjusted EBITDA. In either scenario, the Group reviews
whether the debt is accounted for as a modification or an extinguishment of the liability. A substantial modification should be
accounted for as an extinguishrnent of the existing Hability and the recognition of a new fiability. A non-substantial modification
should be accounted for as an adjustment to the existing fiability, Both the quantitative and qualitative aspects of the
modification are taken inlo actount to ascertain whether the moadification is substantial and these can include the change in
cavenants, repayment dates and the effective inlerest rate. If modification accounting is adopted, the carying value of the
existing liahility is adjusted for fees paid or costs incurred and the effective interest rate is amended at the modification date. if
extinguishment accounting is adopted, the existing liability is de-recognised and the new or mogified liability is recognised at its
fair value, the gain or loss equal to the difference between the carrying value of the old liability and the fair value of the new one
is recognised, any incremental costs of fees incurred and any consideration paid or received is recognised in profit or loss and
a new effective interest rate for the modified liability is calculated and used in future periods.

Derivative financial instruments

From time to time, the Group enters into derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps. to manage its exposure
t0 interest rate risk. The Group also enters into put and call options on certain acquisitions.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair vaiue at the date a derivative is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at each balance sheel date. A derivative with a positiva fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a
derivative with a negative farr value is recognised as a financial liability. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the
gonsolidatad income statement immediately. A derivative \s presented as a nen-current asset or non-current liability if the
Group has an unconditional right to defer payment beyond 12 months, Otherwise, derivatives are presentad as current assets
of liabilities.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit iosses, which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance far ail trade receivables and contract assels.

Trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk ¢characteristics and the days past due in
order to measure expected credit losses. Contract assets related to unbilled work in progress have substantially the same risk
characteristics as trade receivables for the same type of contracts. The Group has therefare concluded that the expected loss

rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximaticn of the loss rates for contract assets.

The expecled loss rates are based on the payment profites of sales over a penod of 48 manths and before 30 September 2021
and 30 September 2022 respectively as well as the correspondingly historical credit losses during that period. The historical
rates are adjusted 1o reflect current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting the customer’s ability 1o settle the
amount autstanding. Expected credit losses sre calculated in accordance with the simplified approach permited by IFRS g,
using a provision matrix applying lifetime historical credit loss experience to the trade receivables. The expected credit [oss rate
varies depending on whether, and the extent to which, settlement of the trade receivables is overdue and it is also adjusted as
appropriate to reflect current economic conditions and estimates of fulure conditions. For the purpose of determining credit loss
rates, customers are classified into groupings that have similar loss patterns. The key driver of the loss rate is the type of
customer. The vast majonty of the Group's customers are state-owned entities such as local authorities. As such, credit loss is
nol expected to increase significantly since initial recognition.
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(i) Impairment (excluding deferred tax assets)

The carrying amounts of the Group's assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether thera is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assel's recoverable amount is estimated.

For goodwill and assets that have an indefinite useful life, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date, For
goodwill and assets which are not amortised or depreciated, the recoverable amount is estimaled at each balance sheet date.

An impaimaent lose is recognised wheneve lhe carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the consofidated income statement.

Impaiment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the camying amount of any
goodwill allocated lo cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit an a pro rata
basis. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their falr value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value
In use, the estimated tuture cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely
independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. This
includes right-of-use assets, which cannot be operated independently.

Reversals of impairment

An impairment loss is reversed if the subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event
occurting after the impainment loss was recognised. Any impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

In respact of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairnment loss may no longer
exist of there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed
only 1o the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carmying amount that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairrnent loss had been recognised. ,

(i} Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-hearing barrowings are recognised initially at fair valus less directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between preceeds (net of transaction
¢0sts) and the redemption value being recognised in the consalidated income statemenit over the period of the bormowings on
an effective interest basis.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer setilement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Interest on qualifying assels is capitalised in accordance with IAS 23 barrowing costs. Refer to note 10.
(k) Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income
statement as incumed.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the refated service is
provided, A provision is recognised for the amount expecled to be paid under shon-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee
and the pbligation can be estimated reliably.

Share-based payment transactions

The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the
options granted is measured using an aption valuation model (Black-Scholes valuation model), taking into account the lerms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The amount recognised on exercise as an expense is adjusted to take
ina aceount an estimate of the number of shares that are expected to vest as well as to reflect the actual number of share
options that vest, except where forfeiture is due only to share prices not achieving the threshold for vesting. Options lapsed are
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expunged from the relevant scheme. [n the event of optiors cancelled or settled during the vesting pericd, the charge Is
recognised immediately for the amount that otherwisz would have been recognised for services received over the remainder of
the vesling period.

Employee Benefit Trust

The assets and liabilities of the Employee Benefit Trust {£BT") have been included in the consalidated financial statements,

Any assets held by the EBT cease to be recognised on the consolidated balance sheet when the assets vest unconditionally in
identified beneficiaries,

The costs of purchasing own sha-es held by the EBT are shown as a deducticn against equity, The proceeds from the sale of
own shares hald incrgased equity. Neither the purchase nor sale of own shares leads to a gain or loss being recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

(#) Provisions

A, provision, other than provisions for deferred taxation, is recognised in the balance sheat where a reliable estimate can be
made when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required te settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by
discounting the expected, risk adjusted, and future cash flows at a pre-tax risk-free rate.

(m) Revenue

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based approach te the recognition of revenue from all contracts with customers. it focuses
on the identification of performance abligations in a contract and requires revenue 1o be recognised either at a point in time or
over time, when {or as) the Group satisfies parformance obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its
customers.

Revenue arises mainly from the provision of care and educational services to vulnerable adulis and children, fostering and the
sale of hardware and software,

Income which has been invoiced but imecaverable is treated as a bad debt expense. Revenue invoiced in advance is included
in deferred revenue until the service is provided. Reverie is recoghised net of VAT and credit notes.

Care services

Revenue from the sale of care services pravided to vulnerable adults ang children is recognised as the services are provided.
Care services are consumed as soon as they are provided and performance obligations are satisfied when services are
rendered to the client. There are no significant financing components and invoice payment terms are typically 30 days.

Our contracts provide that the Group is entitled to consideration based on the amaunt of care services delivered (for example
number of days' worth of care delivered in the periad) and an agreed rate. On this basis, the Group have applied the practical
expedient set out in IFRS 15 para 121. There are no significant judgements used in the recognition of revenue.

Revenue in respect of the provision of care services is measured as the fair value of fee income received or receivable in
respect of the services provided and is recognised in respect of the care that has been pravided In the relevant pedod. Any
additional services provided by the Group are recognised as the services are provided.

Educational services

Revenue in respect of educational services is recognised when the young person is in school, over the academic year, as this
is when the service user is receiving the educational services.

Consideration is determined by the contractually agreed amount for each placement with payment for each term typicalty
received in advance.

Fostering services

Far Foster Care, the Group is acting as a principal as contracts are between the Group and local authorities and separataty
between the Group and foster carers with a number of perfformancs conditions attached to each.

Foster Care revenue is recognised on the basis of the daily placements made with a full day's revenue recognised for every
night a ptacernent is with a foster carer at an agreed rate.
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Hardware and software

Revenue from the sale of hardware and Software for a fixed fee is recognised when or as the Group transfers control of the
assels to the customer. Invoices for goods cr services transferred are due upon receipt by the customer, payment terms are
typically 30 days. Cantrol transfers at the paint in time the customer takes undisputed delivery of the goods.

The Group provides a one- or two-year manufacturer's warranty {extended by our suppliers) on hardware products.
Communication devices manufactured by Smartbox are sold with a Smar Care extended warranty. Under the termns of the
warmanty custamers cam return the product for repair or replacement if it fails Lo perform in accordance with published
specifications. These warranties are accounted for under IAS 37,

The Group sells monthly software subscriptions and perpetual licences, For sales of software the licence perod commences
upon delivery.

Contract assets and liabilities/accrued and deferred income

The Group recagnises contract liabilittes for consideration received in respact of unsatisfied performance obligalions and
repors these amounts as deferred income in the balance sheet (see note 16). An exampie of this is where the Group will
invoice in advance for education services. This is held in deferred income until the service has been provided.

Simitady, the Group recognises a contract asset where a contract has been agreed with a customer and a service user has
been admitted to our facilities but no sales invoice has been issued. This is disclosed as accrued income.

The Group will estimate the accrued income using the agreed contractual rate and the number of days where the service user
was receiving care from the Greup.

{p) Expenses
Financing costs

Financing costs, comprising interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts, finance charges on finance leases, the unwinding of
the discount on provisions and the costs incurred [n connection with the arrangement of borrowings are recognised in the
consplidated inceme statement using the effective interest methed.

Inferest payable is recognised in the consolidated income statemen! as it accrues, using the effective interest method.
Financing costs that are directly attributable 1o the acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset.

Financing costs alse inciude losses arising on the change in fair value of derivatives that are recognised in the consolidated
income statement,

(q) Leased assets
The Group as a lessee

For any new contracts entered into, the Group considers whether a contract is, of contains, a lease. A lease is defined as 'a
contract, or part of a contract, 1hat conveys the right to use an asset {the underlying asset) for a pariod of time in exchange for
consideration’. To apply this definition the Group assesses whether tha contract meets three key svaluations which are:

«  Contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the coniract or implicitly specified by bein,
identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group. -

. Group has the right to obtain subslantially all of the econamic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the
period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract.

- Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The Group assesses whether it
has the nght to direct 'haw and for what purpose’ the asset is used thraughout the period of use.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

Al lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The right-
of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs
incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs 1o restore the asset at the end of the lease 1o its original condition, and any
lease payments made in advance of the lsase commencament date (net of any incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date Lo the earlier of the
end of the uselul lite of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for
impairment when such indicators exist.
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Al the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present vaiue of the lease paymenls unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the: lease if that rate is readily available or the Group's incréemental borrowing
rate.

Lease paymenrts included in the measurement of the laase liability are made up of fixed payments (including in substance
fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expacted to be payable under a residual value guarantas and
payments arsing from options reasonably certain ic be exercised.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. i is re-measured
1o reflecl any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-subsiance fixed paymenis.

When the lease liability is re-measured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or prafit and loss if
the right-of-use assel is already reduced to zera.

The Group has electad to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients. Instead
of recognising a right-ot.use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over lhe lease em.

On the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities have been disclosed separaiely.
{r) Taxation

Tax an the profit or logs for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement except to the extent thal it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.
Current lax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacled at the balance sheet date, and any adjusiment to tax payabla in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is pravided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liatiities for financral reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initiat
recognition of goadwill; the initial recognition ¢f assels or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in
a business combination, and differences relaling to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse
in the foreseeable futyre,

The amount of defemred tax provided is based on the expacted manner of realisation or settiemant of the carrying amount of
assels and liabilities, using tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. A deferred tax asset
is recognised only ta the extent thal it is probable that future taxable prafits will be avaitable against which the asset can be
utifised. The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet dale.

(s) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration transferred by the Group
to abtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred, liabilities
incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. which includes the fair value of any asset or liability arising from a
contingent consideration arrangement. The calculation of contingent consideration is based on the provisions included in the
sale and purchase agreement of each acquisition and is updated ff crcumstances change. Acquisition costs are expensed as
incurred. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at their acquisition-date fair values. The Group recognises non-
controlling interesis in an acquired entity at the nan-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
Identifiable assets.

{t} Government grants

Govemment grants are recognised only when there I1s reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with any conditions
attached lo the grant and the grant will be received. The grants are recognised as incame over the period necessary to match
them with the related costs, for which they are intended to compensate, an a sysiematic basis. A grant receivable as
compensalion for costs aiready incurred or for immediate financial suppon, with no future reiated casts, is recognised as
income in the periad in which it is receivable.

3. Accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statemenis in conformity with IFRS requires managemaent to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions which affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assels, fiabilities, income and
expenses. Actual resuts may differ from these estimates.

In the process of applying the Greup's accounting palicies, the Directors have made the following estimates and judgements
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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Estimates

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affecled,

Goodwill

The Group annually tests whether there is any impairment in goodwill, in accordance with the accaunting policy outlined in note
1?7 Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires vurmparison of the value in use tor the relevant CGUSs fa the assets
altributable to these CGUs. The value-in-use calculation is based on an estimate of future cash flaws expected o arisa from the
CGLUs and these are discounted to net present value using an appropriate discount rate. In calculating value in use,
management judgement is required in forecasting ¢ash flows of cash-generating units, in determining terminal growth values
and in calculating an appropriate discount rate. The goodwill impaimment test is sensitive ‘o these estimates, The Group has
perfarmed sensitivity analysis ovar the value-in-use calculation with respect 1o the key estimates. The discount rates applied In
these calculations are disclosed in note 12.

Judgements

Capitalised development costs

Capitalisation of development costs within software and licances requires the Directors to make judgements In allocating staff
time approprialely to relevant projects and in assessing the technical feasibility and economic potential of those projects as well
as forecasts for the useful economic life of each asset have been used. The useful economic life of development costs is
determined 1o be five years.

CareTech Charitable Foundation

Judgemaent is required in determining whether the Group has cantral of the CareTech Charitable Foundation {the 'Foundation').
In assessing contral, the Group has assessed whether it is expased, or has rights, lo variable retumns from its involvement in
the Foundation. Consideration has been given to the fact the Group cannot directly appoint ar remove a Trustee but can
remove a member and veto the appointment of a new member, The membership of the charitable company is restrictad to the
independent Tiustees and relevant activilies of the charity governed by the Board of Trustees. Given the majority of the
Trustees are Group emgployees, an assessment has been made as to whether the Group employees are able to exercise
control and therefore generate variable retums,

The Foundation's Trustees owe very sirict legal duties under the Charity Commission to act as fiduciaries and each Trustee
must act independent of its own interest or indeed anyone else’s save for those of the charity, Based on thase legal duties, the
Directors have used their judgement that a Foundation Trustee could not act on behalt of a third party If acting In compliance
with their duties and how the law permits and therefora the Group does not control the Foundgation.
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4. Business combinations
{a) Acquisition of REHAVISTA

On the 29 November 2021, the Group acquired 8 100% helding in REHAVISTA GmbH and its subsidiary LegBUK (Collectively
“REHAVISTA") Germany's largest provider of augmentative and altemative communication (AAC) products and services,
employing over 170 staff. The company, which has six offices across Garmany, provides a range of AAC and assistive technology
products and has a strong reputation for excellent service. LogBUK is a subsidiary company to REHAVISTA, providing
independent speech and language therapy to help AAC users achieve the best outcames through specialist clinical support.

REHAVISTA's reach and expertise is unparalleled in Germany, estimated to be the second jargest funded AAC market globally

after the USA. With its deep knowledge of assistive technology and established routes to market, this acquisition provides a
significant epportunity for the Group to expand tha products and services available in Germany.

The acquisition table is as follows:

Falr value

Book values adjustments Tatal

£000s £000s £400s

Intangible assets 24 839 863
Goodwill 31 (31) -
Proparty plant & equipment 471 - 471
Right-ol-usa asset 0o - 800
Trade and other recaivables 7 1,488 (131} 1,357
Inventory 1,468 - 1,468
Cash 175 - 173
Corporation tax (61) - (61)
Deferred tax - (268) (268)
Trade and other payables (1,846) - {1,846)
Lease liability {800) - {900)
Loans and other borrowings {578) - {578)
Net ts on acquisition 1,170 409 1,579
Consideration paid 8,573
Goodwill 6,994
Consideration paid was: £000
Cash 8,295
Deferred consideration 278
Total consideration 8,573
Reconciliation to the cash flow statement £000
Cash paid ' ' 8,295
Cash acquired (173}
Paymenis for business combination net of cash acquired 8,120

Goodwill arises as a result the surplus of consideration over the fair value of the separately idenlifiabie assets acquired.
Cosls relating ta this acquisition are expensed in the Income Statement in accardance with IFRS3.

Goodwill is attributable to the future economic benefits arising from assels which are not capable of being individualiy identified
and separately recognised, ihese include value of the assembled workforce within the business acquired. Other intangible
assets acquired relate to the REHAVISTA trade name.

Costs relating to this acquisition of £55k have been expensed in the Income Statement in accordance with IFRS3 and included
in administrative expenses.
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Judgemenit is required In determining the tair value adjusiments as part o} business combinations and for the fair value of
intangible assels a third-party specialist has been engaged. An intangible asset relating 1o trade name £0.8m was recognised
on acquisition. A respective deferred tax liability of £0.3m was raised.

REHAVISTA contributed revenue of £12.4m and a loss of £0.6m to the Group's profit after tax for the year between the date of
acquisition and the balance sheet dale. Had the acquisition of REHAVISTA occurred from the first day of the year, the Groups
revenue would be higher by £2.4m and profit before tax lower by £0.2m,

(b) Acquisition of Dmetco-Bayti

On 4 February 2022, the Group completed two further acquisitions in the United Arab Emirates (UAE), Wellness Center
('Wellness') and Dmeteo-Bayti Group {'Dmetco').

Dmeteo-Bayti is a well-estahfished home bealthcare provider managing the daily health and social care needs of its patients
across the UAE through two home-grown brands, namely Dmetco Home Healthcare and Bayti Home Healthcare. Established in
2012, it provides home healthcare and physiotherapy services in the emirale of Abu Dhabi, primarily 1o UAE nationals, through
a team of over 150 registered healthcare professionals. Dmetco-Bayti also caters to patients who require physiotherapy and
rehabilitation services. The estimated patient size for in-home health and sccial care services in the UAE is 10,000, with Dmetco-
Bawyti gurrently managing 120 individuals,

AS Group has acquired a 70% interest in Dmetco-Baytl paying upfront consideration of E7.3m in cash with a further £3.2m in
cash deferred and £0.6m in cash payable through an eam-out mechanism. The Group expects the eam-out to be paid over a
two-year period fram the dale of completion and has valued the contingent consideration at the fair value on acquisition date.
The expected range of the amount payable is between £0 to £1.0m. The transaction has been funded by the Group's existing
cash resources and debt facility.

The acquisition table far Dmetco-Bawti is as follows:

Fair value
Book values adjustments Total
£000s £000s £000s
Intangible assets - 7,166 7,166
Property plant & equipment g1 - a1
Trade and other receivables 1,226 (86) 4,140
Cash 1,150 - 1,150
Trade and other payables {748) - (748}
Loans and other borrewings (707) - {707)
Net assets on acquisition 1.014 7,080 8,094
Less: Non-controlling interest (2,429)
5,665
Consideration paid 11,116
Googwill 5,451
Consideration paid
Cash 7.256
Deferred consideration 3,237
Contingent consideration 623
Total consideration 11,116
Cash paid 7.256
Cash acquired (1,150}
Payments for business combination net of
<ash acquired 6,106

Goodwill arises as a result the surplus of considaration over the fair value of the separately identifiable assels acquired.

Costs relating to the Dmetco and Wellness acquisitions of £404k have been expensed in the Income Statement in accordance
with IFRS3 and included in administrative expenses,

Goadwili is attributable to the future economic benefits arising from assets which are not capable of being individualty identified
ang separately recognised, these include value of the assembled workforce within the business acquired. Other infangible
assats acquired comprise customer relationships and the Dmetco-Bayti Irade name.
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Jucgement is required in determining the fair value adjustments as part of business combinations and for the fair value of
intangible essets a third-party specialist has been engaged. Intangibie assets of £7.2m were recognisad on acqusition related
to customer relationships, £6.4m and trade name, £0.8m.

Dmetco-Bayti contributed revenue of £5.6m and £0.1m te the Group's profit after tax for tha year between the date of
acquisition and the balance sheet date. Had the acouisition of Dmelco-Bayti occurred from the first day of the year, the Groups
revenue would be higher by £2.8m and profit before tax higher by £0.1m.

{¢) Acquisition of Wellness Group

Established in 2015 by Shafgat Malik, co-founder and CEO of AS Group, the Abu Dhabi-based Wellness Group pravides
integrated physical health cansultatians and surgical services serving c.7C00 patients per month. The Weliness Group's
operations are an integral part of the founders' vision to provide a conlinuum of care for AS Group's mental healthcare patients
through quality day care, GP and other specialist services, Over 72% of the Groups' revenues are backed by health insurarice
schemes.

CareTech has acquired a 51% interest in the Wellness Group and has paid an upfront consigeration of £3.8m in cash with a
further £3.4m in cash deferred and £0.5m in cash contingent. An adoitional £4.3m was paid in ¢ash to setlle the existing bank
loans of Wellness. The Group expects contingent consideration to te paid over a two-year period from the date of completion.
The expected range of the amournt payable is between £0 to £0.5m. The transaclion has been funded by the Group's existing
cash resources and debt facility.

The acquisition table for Wellness is as follows:

Fair vatue
Book values adjustments Total
£000s £000s £000s
Intangible assets - 10,185 10,185
Property plant & equipment 1,025 - 1,025
Right-of-use asset 150 - 150
Trade and other receivables 2,104 (73) 2,031
Inventaries 152 - 152
Cash B4 - 884
Trada and other payables (2,227) - (2,227)
Lease liability (241) - (241)
Loans and other borrowings {4,251) - (4.251)
Net assets onh acquisition (2,404} 10,112 7,708
Less; Non-controlling interest (3,740)
3,968
Consideration paid 7,655
Goadwill 3,687
Consideration paid
Cash 3,757
Deferred consideration 3,408
Contingent consideration 493
Total consideration 7,655
Cash paid 3,757
Cash acquired (884)
Payments far business combination net of
cash acquired 2873

Goodwill arises as a result the surplus of consideration over the fair vaiue of the separately identifiable assets acquired.

Costs relating to the Dmetco and Wellness acquisitions of £404k have been expensed in the Income Statement in accordance
with IFRS3 and included in administrative expenses,
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Goadwill is attributable to the tuture economic benefils arising from assets which are nat capable of being individually identified
and separately recognised, these include value of the assembled workforce wilhin the business acquired, Cther intangible
assels acquired comprise customer reiationships and the Wellness trade name,

Judgement is required in determining the fair value adjustmeants as part of business comkinations and for the falr value of
intangible assets a third-party specialist has besn angaged. Intangible assets of £10.1m were recognised on acquisition related
to customer relationships, £9.3m and trade name, £0.8m.

The Weliness Givup coniributed revenue of £8.1m and £1.2m to the Group’s profit after tax for the year between the date of
acquisilion and the balance sheet date. Had the acguisition of Wellness group occurred fram the first day of the year, the
Groups revenue would be higher by £4, 1m and profit before tax higher by £0.5m.

{(d} Acquisition of Yalk To Me Technologles ’ .

In June 2023, Smaitbox Holdings acquired Talk To Me Technologies (TTMT), a ieading supplier of Augmentative and
Alternative Communication {AAC). TTMT was founded in 2006 and headquartered in Cedar Falls, lowa. TTMT's produce line
offers twelve AAC solutions in¢lyding Wegao, Zuvo and Eyespeak families of communication systems, TTMT is also the creator
of the Zoom, OnWord, QuickStep, and Universal Core vocabulary page sets as well as the Spark Symbol Set library, For the
year ended 31 December 2022, TTMT had $20.7m revenue and $4.9m EBITDA on a LS GAAP basis.

S. Revenue
Revenue is analysed by class of business as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Care servicas 483,232 476,187
Digital technology 27,483 12,932
Total 540,715 489,119

Opetrations of the Group are primarily carried out in the UK, the Company's couniry of domicile. The AS Group, registered in
the ("UAE') has generated revenue in the LJAE of £44 .5m (2021: £25.1m), in addition revenue by the Smartbox Group has been
generated in Europe of £16.8m (2021: £4.5m), North and Central America of £3.6m (2021: £2.1m), Aystralasia of £0.8m
(2021:£0.6m), and Middle East and Africa of £1.1m (2021: £0.7m). All other revenues arise within the UK.

6. Operating profit :
Operating profit for the year is stated after charging:

2022 2021

£000 £000
Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates for the audit of the consolidated Parent and
Parent Company’s annual accounts 685 554
Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates for the audit of the accounls of subsidiaries 61 52
Audit related assurance services 33 3¢
Agency costs 28,530 18,313
Foster parent pay 7 17.252 19,385
Delisting costs 15,161 -
Repairs and mainfenance 4 808 5.578
Covid-19 expenses 5,811 4,220
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7. Staff numbers and costs
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Directors) during the year, analysed by categary, was as

follows:
Number of emplayees
2022 2021
Operational and service daljvery staff 10,427 10,144
Maintenance 153 19
Management and administration 893 187
11,473 11,650
The aggregate employee cosis of these persons (inciuding Oirectors) were as follows:
2022 2021
£000 £000
Wages and salaries 268,779 256,443
Share-based payments’ charge* 6,223 1,376
Social security cosls 23,486 21,586
Other penslon costs 5,747 5,693
304,245 285,088
*  Share-based payments’ charge includes £1,040,000 (2021: £473,000} which relates to the Executive Share Ownership
Scheme, the Sharesave Scheme 2017 and the Approved Share Option Plan 2015, and £5,183,000 (2021: £302,000) refating to
the Long-Term [ncentive Plan.
The aggregate payrcll costs of the Group's Directors were as follows:
2022 2021
£000 £000
Wages and salaries 4,243 2,425
Benefits 217 280
Other pension costs 178 150
4,638 2,855

Emoluments of the highest paid director were £1,602k (2021: £1,116k), which includes contributions of £nil (2021: £nil) to a
defined contribution pension scheme. There were no other benefits owad to directors at year end (2021: £nil). Al! four directors
including the highest paid director exercised share options (2021; none).

Post ernployment benefits are accruing for no directors (2021: one) under a defined contribution pension scheme.
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8. Finance expenses

2022 2021
£000 £000

Interest expense on financial liabilities at amortised cost:
On bank loans and overdrafts 11,336 8,236
Finance charges in respect of leases 4,237 3,922
Derivative financial instruments 82 64
Ground rent lease imputed interest 486 466
Interast on contingent consideration - 582
Total finance expenses 16,121 13,270
9. Taxation
{a) Recognised in the consolidated income statement

2022 2021

£000 £000
Current tax income/{axpense)
Current year (2,052) {9,581)
Prior year adjustments 728 505
Total current tax (1,324} (9,076)
Pelerred tax expense
Current year {1,604) {21,4086)
Prior year adjusimenls 43 {424}
Total deferred tax {1,561) (21,830)
Total tax in the consolidated income statement (2,885) {30,908}
(b} Reconciliation of effective tax rate

2022 2021

£000 £000
Profit before tax for the year - 8,395 66,234
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 15.0% (2021: 18.0%) 1,785 12,584
Non-ceductible expenses including impairment charge 2,998 1,624
Income not taxable (184) (3.866)
Olber tax adjustments 433 (729)
Capital allowances super deduction (686) {443)
Effect of overseas tax rates (882) {553)
Change in tax rate 262 22,077
Current tax prior year adjustments (728) (284)
Deferred tax prior year adjusiments ’ (43} 506
Total tax in the consolidated income statement 2,885 30,906
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10. Property, plant and equipment

Lana and buildings Fixtures, fittings and vemgllgs: Tola)
000 equipment £000 £000 £000

Coast
At 1 October 2020 575,189 62,028 9,442 646 659
Acquisitions through business cambinations 440 . - - 440
Additians 12,809 16,222 - 29,131
Disposals (788) {148) (2,939) (3,873)
At 30 September 2021 587,750 - 78,104 6,503 672,357
At 1 October 2021 587,750 78,104 €503 572,357
Acquisitions through business combinations - 1,579 - 1,579
Additions 12,787 18,207 - 30,584
Reclassifications - (2,979) - (2,979)
Disposals (437) (34,568) {1,452) (36,457)
At 30 September 2022 600,100 60,343 5,051 665,494
Depreciation and impairmeant
At 1 Qctober 2020 9,114 26,629 6,820 42,563
Depreciation charge for the year 1,228 40,095 1,161 12,484
Dispasals (82) (243) (1,847) (2,172)
At 30 September 2021 10,26C 36,481 6,134 52,875
At 1 October 2021 10,260 36.481 6,134 52,875
Depreciation charge for the year 1,160 10,889 3 12,052
Reclassifications - {771) - (771)
Dispasals {35) (34,541) (1,107) (35,663)
At 30 September 2022 11,465 12,058 5,030 28,493
Net hook value
At 30 September 2021 577,490 41,623 369 §19,482
At 30 September 2022 588,695 48,285 21 637,001

Included in the resuit for the year is a profit of £19,000 (2021: £242,000) on the disposal of freehold property, plant and

equipment, and motor vehicles.

The market value of land and building held at 30 September 2022 was £930m of which £468m is heid as secunty for

borrowings.

There were assets under construction to the value of £8.6m (2021: £14 3m) at year end.

On 1 October 2021 tangible assets with a net book valve o the amount of £2.2m has been reclassified to intangible assets.
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11. Leases
Right-of-use assets

Matar Total
Land and buildings vehicles Equipment right-of-use assets
£000 EOCO £000 £000
Gross carrying ameunt
Balance 1 October 2020 85,034 8,115 698 93,847
Additions 40,079 2,397 - 42,476
Balance at 30 September 2021 125,113 10,512 698 136,323
Balance 1 October 2021 125,113 10,512 698 136,323
Additions 6,249 3,000 355 9,604
Balance at 30 September 2022 131,362 13,512 1,053 145,927
Depreciation and impairment
Balance 1 October 2020 3,688 2,027 344 6,057
Depraciation 4,746 1,948 341 7,035
Balance at 30 September 2021 8,432 3,975 685 13,092
Balance 1 October 2021 8,432 3,975 685 13,082
Depreciation 5,281 2,158 120 7.559
Balance at 30 September 2022 13,713 6,133 805 20,651
Net book value
Carmying amount 30 September 2021 116,681 6,537 13 123,21
Carrying amount 30 September 2022 117,649 7,379 248 125,278
The right-of-use assets are included in the same line item as where the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if
they were owned.
Lease liability
L ease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:
2022 2021
£000 . £000
Cusrent 6,516 5,500
Non-current 121,308 118,781
127,824 124,281

The Group has leases for [and and buildings, motor vehicles and office equipment. With the exception of short-lerm leases and
leases of low-value underying assets, each lease is reflected on the balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease liakiiity.
The Group classifies its ight-of-use assels in a consistent manner to its property, plant and equipment.

Each lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless thera is a contractual right for the Group to sublet the asset to enother
party, the right-of-use asset can only be used by the Group. Leases are either non-cancellable or may only be cancelled by
incurring a substantive termination fee, Some leases contain an option to purchase the underlying leased asset outright at the
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end of the lease, or lo exiend the lease for a further lerm. Leases which contain an option to purchase for @ peppercormn rate of
an option to extent have been included in iine with the accounting policy in the measurement of the liability and are not
considered a significant judgement. The Group is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying leased assets as security.
For leases over land and buildings the Group must keep those properties in a goad state of repair and retumn the properties in
their original condition at the end of the lease. Further, the Group must insure items of property, plant and equipment and Incur
maintenance fees on such items in accordance with the lease contracts.

The lease liabilities are secured by the refated underlying assets. Future minimum lease payments at 30 September 2022 were
as follows:

Within 1-2 2-3 34 4-5 After
1 year years years years years 5 years Tatal
30 September 2022
Lease payments 10,933 10,111 8,514 7,115 6,709 389,213 432,615
Finance charges {4,417} (4,131) {3,895) (3,739} {3,625} {284,984} {304,791)
Net present values 6,516 5,980 4,619 3,376 3,084 104,243 127,824
30 September 2021
Lease payments 9,565 9,511 7.815 8,767 5,474 392,068 432,201
Finance charges (4,065) (3,895) (3.741) (3,742) (3.642) (288,835) {307,920)
Net present values 5,500 5616 4,074 3,025 2,832 103,234 124,281
Lease payments not recognised as a liability
The Group has elected not to recognise a lease liability for shortterm leases (leases with an expected term of 12 months or
less) or for leases of low-value assets. Payments made under such leases are expensed on a straight-line basis. In addition,
cerlain variable lease payments are not pemitted to be recognised as lease llabilities and are expensed as incured,
Interest expense on lease liabilities for the year ended 30 September 2022 was £4,237,000 (2021: £3,510,000),
The expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability is as follows:
2022 2021*
E£000 £000
Short-term leases 2,391 2,541
Leases of low-value assets 50 11
2,441 2,552

*Reslated see note 29

At 30 September 2022 the Group was committed {o short-term leases and the total commitment at that date was £407,000
{2021: £547,000).

Total cash cutflow far leases for the year ended 30 September 2022 was £12,943,000 (2021: £12,712,000%).

*Resiated see note 29
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12. Intangible assets

Software and Customer )
Goodwill licences reiationships Technology Brands Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 October 2020 86,632 25,434 124,191 - - 233,257
Acquisitions through business combinations 3,468 - 7,428 3,393 863 15,2561
Exchange adjustments {194) - ) (430) - - (624)
Additions for the year - 2,868 - - - 2,868
Adjustments” (1,012) - - - - {1,012)
At 30 September 2021 88,894 28,302 128,189 3,393 963 249,740
At 1 Qctober 2021 88,894 28,302 128,189 3,393 963 249,740
Acquisitions through businress combinations 16,125 - 15,743 - 2,447 34,315
Exchange adjustments 3,097 - 5179 - - 8276
Reclassifications - 2,879 - - - 2,979
Additions for the year - 3,445 - - - 3,445
At 30 September 2022 108,116 34,726 149,111 3,293 3,410 298,755
Amortisation and iImpairment
At 1 October 2020 2,028 18,707 44,834 - ~ 65,569
Amortisation charge for the year - 3.265 6,232 679 97 10,273
Al 30 September 2021 2,028 21,972 51,087 679 97 75,842
At 1 October 2021 2,028 21,972 51,067 679 97 75,842
Reclassifications - 771 - - - 771
Amartisation charge for the year - 5,796 6,353 679 323 13,151
At 30 September 2022 2,028 28,539 57,420 1,358 420 89,764
Net book value
Al 30 September 2021 86,866 6,330 77,122 2,714 866 173,898
At 30 September 2022 106,088 5,187 91,691 2,035 2,990 208,991

On 1 Cclober 2021 tangible assets with a net book value to the amount of £2.2 been reclassified to intangible assets.

Development costs amounting to £4 11k during the year have been capitalised to software (2021: £546k) with assoclated
amortisation costs of £177k (2021: £31k). Research costs expensed in line with the accounting policy amounted to £43k (2021:
£95k).

* Adjustments relate to centain investments which historically have been included within goodwill. In the prior year these have
been rectassifiad and uilimataly impaired in full.
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Amortisation

The amartisation charge is recognised in the foliowing line items in the consclidated income staternent;

2022 201
EODO £000
Administrative expenses 13,151 10,273

Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill

The Group tests goadwill for impairment on an annual basis by considering the recaverable amount of individual cash-
generating units {CGUs') against camying ~alue.

Far the purpose of annual impaimment testing, goodwill is allocated into five identifiable CGUs: Adulls Services, Children’s
Services, Foster Care, Middle East and Digital Technology. This broadly aligns to the reported operating Segments expected to
benefit from the synergies of the business comiinations in which the goodwill arises, with exception to Middle East. Whilst
Middle East performs Adults Services and Children's Services, given its geographical location, it has been identified as a
saparate CGU. This is the iowest level at which goodwill is monitared for impairment by management, There are no intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives {other than goodwilly.

The carrying value of goodwill is split hetween the following cash-generating units:

2022 2021

£000 £000

Adults Services 27,438 27,271
Children's Services 44,769 44,769
Foster Care ‘ 7.162 7,162
Middle East 16,027 4,196
Digital Technology 10,692 3,468
106,088 85,866

Dunng the year the Group carfied oul a review of the recoverable amount of its gooadwill throughout the business. The
recaverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less cost 10 sall and the value in use, has been determined initially based
on value-in-use calculations, These calculations use cash flow projections for operational assels at the balance sheet date
based on financial budgets approved by the Board of Directors for Ihe forthcaming year (year ended 30 September 2023) which
are based on assumptions of the business,<ndustry and economic growth. The approved budgets for the year ended 30
September 2023 are extrapolated using the 2 10 5 year growth rate, and then into pemetuity using the lang-term growth rate
which does not ex¢eed the expected long-term economic growth rate.

The key assumnptions for the period aver which management approved forecasts are based and, beyond this, for the value-in-
use calculations overall, are thoese regarding discount rates, growth and sccupancy rates, achievemeant of future revenues and
expected changes in direct costs during the periods. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the
market assessment of the tima value of money as at each balance sheet date, adjusted for the risks specific to the CGU.

In arriving at the values assigned to each key assumption management make reference tc past experience and external

sources of infarmation regarding the future — for example changes in tax rates. The key features of these calculations are
shown below:
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2022 2021
Periad over which management approved forecasts are based - All 1 year i year
Adults Services, Children's Services, Foster Care and Digital Technology
Tworto-five-year growth rale 4.0% 3.5%
Long-term growth rate 2.5% 2.5%
Middie East
Twir-to-five-year growth rate 2.5% 5%
Long-term growth rate 2.0% 2.5%
Pre.tax discount rate
Adult Services 9.1% B8.6%
Children’s Services 10.4% 10.0%
Foster Care 10.4% 10.0%
Middie East 15.3% 15.0%
Digital Technalogy 10.3% 12.5%

Sensitivities

A sensitivity analysis has been performed on each of the base case assumptions used for assessing the goodwili with other
variables held constant. Consideration of sensitivities to key assumptions can evolve from one financial year to the next. The
Directors consider that a reasonable possible change in assumptions would be & decrease in long-term growth rate of 0.5%, an
increase in pre-tax discount rate of 50 basis points, or a reduction in budgeted cash flows of 5%.

None of these sensitivitias would resull in an impairment in the existing CGUs, however Middle East is considered sensitive
due 10 the impact 1o the headroom on account of changes to assumptions.

For Middle East the current headroom is £4,5m, The impact of the above reasonable changes are as follows:

. A decrease in long-term growth rate by 0.5% results in @ headroom ef £2.2m.
«  Anincrease In pre-tax discount rate of 50 basis points results in a headroom of £4.5m.
*  Areduction in budgeted cash flows of 5% resulls in an impairment of £0.7m.

The Directors have also considered the amount by which the value assigned to each key assumption must change, after
incorporating any consequential effects of that change on the other variables used to measure recoverable amount, in order for
the Middle East CGU's recoverable amount to be equal to Its camying amount as follows:

. A decrease in long-term grawth rate by 1.1%.
+«  Anincrease in pre-tax discount rate of 90 basis points.
+ A reduction in budgeted cash flows of 6.0%.

The Directors believe that, notwithstanding the sensitivity of Middle East, there is no requirement for an impairment provision on
the carrying value of the CGUs.
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13. Inventories

2022 2021
EQBO £000
Consumables 1,224 814
Raw materials . 5.540 2.654
6,764 3,468
in 2022, a total of £14,771,000 (2021; £10,118,000) of inventaries was included in profit or loss as an expense.
14. Tracde and other receivables
2022 2021
£000 £000
Trade receivables (Note 26) 59,420 53,823
Qther debtors and prepayments 25,147 5,606
Agcrued income (Note 16} 8,554 12,177
3121 71,606
15. Cash and cash equivalents
2022 2021
£000 £000
Caszsh at bank and in hand 27.258 85,560
There are no restrictions on cash at bank and in hand.
16. Accrued income and deferred income
Accrued Deterred
, Income Income
£000 £000
At 1 October 2020 8,426 {30,309)
Accrued revenue invoiced (8.428}) .
Revenue recogrised in the reporting period - 30,308
Revenua billed in period but relates to future periods - (36,132}
New accrued revenue 12,477 -
At 30 September 2021 12177 (36,132)
At 1 October 2021 12,177 {36,132}
Acerved revenue invaiced {12177} -
Revenue recognised in the reporting periad . 36,132
Reveriue billed in period but relates to future periods - (34,662)
New accrued revenue 8,554
At 30 September 2022 8,554 (34,662}

The Directors consider that the carrying value of accrued income and deferred income approximales 1o its fair vaiue,
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17. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings, For more
infarmation abeut the Group's exposure to interest rate risk, see note 26.

2022 2021
£000 £000
Non-currcnt liabilities
Secured bank loans 528 322,403
Unamartised borrowing cosls - (4,507}
Sharehcider loans - 1,758
528 318,654
2022 2021
E000 £000
Current liabilities
Secured bank loans 322,473 .
Unamortised borrowing costs (2,658) -
Sharehclder loans 148 .
319,963 -
*Restated see note 29 -
Terms and debt repayment schedule
Principal Principal
2022 2021
Currency Nominal interest rate {%) Yeaar of matunty £000 £000
Term loan £ 4.29 (2021: 2.04)" 2023 181,202 161,202
Term loan £ 4.54 (2021: 2.04)* 2023 181,201 161,201
Revolving credi facility term loan £ 4,54 (2021: 2,04y 2023 - -
REHAVISTA GmbH loan £ 3.00 (2021: 3.00) 2030 598 -
323,001 322,403
' The margin on the facilities is stated at the cument rate and can change between 1.50% and 3.25% based on the ratio of
the Group's net debt to adjusted EBITDA,
The principal amounts and associated interest were settled in full cn 7 Oclober 2022, please see nete 26,
18. Trade and other payables
. 2022 2021
£000 £000
Trade payables 9,314 15,220
Accrued expenses 70,883 54,731
80,197 70,011
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19. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

2022 2021
£000 £0C0
Delerred tax assets 448 .
Delemred tax liabilities (96,204) (93,927)
(95.758) (93,827}
Movement in deferred tax during the year:
Acquired in
1 Oclaber  Recognised in byusiness Prior yeat Change in 30 September
2024 income combinations adjustment tax rate 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Property, plant and equipment 73,382 1,320 - {1.935) 126 72,883
Derivative financial instruments (1,353) 143 - 1,165 45 -
Intangidie assets 15.805 (775 268 €89 (149) 15538
Share options (1,606} 1,015 - 270 321 -
Ralled-cver gains on property 8,037 11 - 13 4 8,085
Trading losses carried forward (88) (250) - (320) (7) (665)
Shoni-term timing differences {350) {153) - 75 {47) {475)
93,927 1,311 268 (43) 293 95,756
Movement in deferred tax during the previous year:
Acquired in
1 October  Recognised in business Pror year Change in 30 September
2020 income combinations adjustment tax rate 2021
£000 £000 £000 £000 £COO0 £000
Froperty, plant and equipment 52,552 2.408 15 891 17.516 713,382
Derivative finangial instruments (418) (611) - - (324) (1,353)
Intangible assets 11,616 {1,422) 2,237 a2 3,442 15,905
Share options ’ (163) {1,090} - a3 (386) {1,606)
Rolled-over gains on property 6,583 - - (485) 1,929 8,037
Trading losses camied forward (27) {80} - 25 (7) {88)
Short-term timing differences (309} 35 - 9 (85) (350}
69,844 (760) 2,252 508 22,085 93,927
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20. Provisions

£000
Legal and
other disputes Dilapidalions* QOther Total
At 1 October 2021 350 4,930 200 5,540
Provisions raised during the period - 515 - 515
Amounts used during the period - {447) - {447}
Unused amounts reversed (350) - - (350)
Al 30 September 2022 - 5,058 200 5,258

* Dilapidation provisions arise as a result of the conditions attached to lease agreements Tor land and buildings operated by the
Group, The costs which will be incurred to retum leased land and buildings to the required condition when the properties are
handed back ta the lessor are determinad by an intamal chanered surveyor. An asset 1o the value of the provision is
recognised and amortised of the remaining period of the lease agreement.

Cyber incident after the balance sheet date
Non-adjusting subsequent avent

The Group experienced a cyber incident on 4 January 2023, which had an impaci an predominantly Cambian and By the
Bridge operating IT systems. Cn becoming aware of the tyber-attack, the Group's crisis response was immedialely launched,
and its business continuity plans were successfully implemented, There has been ne material impact on the provision of
services and the Group believe there is no residual remaining threat as a resuit of this incidenl.

The Group is aware of data exfiltration and this is subject to an cngoing investigaiion. The Group complied with its notification
obligations under applicable data privacy law including the Information Commissioners Office (I(C0). The Group is cooperating
fully with the ICO's investigation and understands that, if considered appropriate, the ICO has the ability to impose sanctions or
a penaity notice, neither of which can be currently foreseen or reliability estimated.

21. Derivative financial instruments

2022 2021

£000 £000

Put option 4,894 4,662
Interest rate swaps - 752
4,984 5,414

AS part of the incorporation of Smartbox Holdings, the Group has granted the non-controlling interests the option to request the
Group to acquire saome or all of their shares in Smartbox Holdings Limited, exercisable on 5 October 2024. The amount of the
liability far this put option, which is held on the gross redemption basls, is derived from an internal valuation of the Smartbox .
business, utilising bath discounted forecast future cash flow and multiples-based methodologies. The oplion pricing is based on
the forecasted growth of EBITDA in Smartbox over 4 years from acquisition date, and the EBITDA generaled over this period
which would be retained in the value if the option was exercised. If either were not to ba achieved this would decrease the
value of the option which is assessed al each reporting date. The structure of the aption is such that if the business is not
gensrating the EBITDA that is used in the calculation, this price paid will decrease accordingly. There are no performance
obligations or services conditions associated with tha aption. The charge to equity is recagnised separately as recognition of
liabilities with non-controlling interest. The liability is subseguently accreted through finance charges, up to the redemption
amount that is payable at the date at which the option first becemas exercisable. In the event that the oplion expires
unaxercised, the liabllity is derecagnised with a coresponding adjustment to equity.
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22. Employee benefits
Share-based payments

The Group operated five share option schemes during the year: The CareTech Holdings 2017 Sharesave Scheme, the
CareTech Holdings 2020 Sharesave Scheme, the CareTech Holdings 2015 Approved Share Option Scheme, the Executive
Shared Ownership Plan and the Long-Term incentive Plan. All share options are equity settled.

The Executive Shared Ownership Plan (‘'ExSOP') was formed in March 2017, Under the provisions of the ExSOP, shares (‘the
ExSOP shares') are jointly owned by nominated senior employees and by an employees’ share trust, The ExSOP awards are
subject to a time-related performance candition measured over a three-year period beginning with the date of the grant. To the
extent the perfarmance condition is satisfied, the participant can benefit from any growth of the share price in excess of the
issue price.

The grant of the ExSOP scheme requires specific perforrmance canditions being satisfied. The EPS Target requires the growth
in Ihe Company's underlying Diluted EPS over the Performance Penod to be at least 15% (being an average 5% annual growth
rate, calculated without compounding) during the year.

Qn 8 November 20418, the Group issued 2,504,475 new ordinary shares of 0.5p in the Company (‘the New Ordinary Shares’}
under the Executive Shared Ownership Plan ("Share Plan’) to 30 members of the senior and executive management team, An
award under the Share Plan enablas the participant to benefit only from the future growth in the value of the New Ordinary
Shares above their market vaiue on the award date, in excess of a 'carrying cost' of 3% per annum.

The vesling of the Share Plan requires specific performance conditions being salisfied. As with the previous issuance of the
Shara Plan, the larget is an EPS Target which requires the growth in the Group's underlying Diluted EPS over the three-year
period beginning an the date of issue of the awards to be at least 15% (being ar average 5% annual growth rate, calculatad
without compounding). Participants may not normally realise any such benefit from the Share Plan awards before 8 November
2022, :

On 21 December 2020, the Board approved {he implementation of a new Long-Term incentive Plan ('LTIP"), and the Group
granted 803,689 nil-cost options over ordinary shares in the Company to the Company’s Executive Directors and cerlain other
members of the senior management team. On 15 December 2021, the Group granted 675,640 nil-cos! options over ordinary
shares in the Comgany to the Company’s Executive Directors and certain other members of the senior management team
under the Board approved LTIP. The weighted average fair value of those aptions are 428p and 505p respectively.

LTIP awards will normally vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant, subject ta the satisfaction of any performance
conditions as set out in the Direclors’ Remuneration Report, and the grantee’s continued service. Upon vesting, S0% of the
Award shares are subject 1o a holding period of four years from the date of grant, with the remaining 50% of the Award shares
subject to a holding period of five years from the date of grant.

The options have been valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing medel in line with IFRS 2 'Share-Based Payments'. The
assitmptions used as part of the mode! include the tollowing:

28 March 8 November 21 December 15 December

2016 2018 2020 2021

Expected volalility 25% 25% N/A* NA*
Expected dividend yie!d 3.90% 3.5% 0%** 0%
Risk free interest rate 2.39% 1.25% N/A**" N7A®**
Vasting period 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years

* Volatility has no impact on the core value of an award with no exercise price or market condition, Velatility over the one- and
two-year holding pericds are 18.29% and 30.4% (2020 issue: 38.03% and 30.95%) respectively.

** Paricipants are entitled to receive dividend equivalents on these awards; therefare, the dividend yield does not have an
impact on the fair value of these awards and has been set to zero.

***  Awards with no exercise price or market condition are not affectad by risk free rate. Risk free interest rate over the holding
pericds is zero.

Approved and Unappraved scheme aptions are exercisable at any time from the third anniversary of the date of grant to the
tanth anniversary, other than nominal cost options which may become exercisable at the earliest after a period of 30 dealing
days following the third anniversary of being granted. SAYE scheme aptions are normally exercisable within six months

following the third anniversary of the date of grant. Options granted under the above schemes, together with those remaining at
30 September 2022 are as follows:
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Weighted
average share
Optlons  Exercise price  prica on date

Options QOptions Ogptions Options remaining of share option of exercisa
remaining as at granted tapsedto  exercised to as at (pence) (pence}
Date of grant Scheme 30 Sep 2021 A0 Sep 2022 30 Sep 2022 IO Sep 2022 30 Sep 2022 30 Sep 2022 30 Sep 2022
29 Mar 2016 Executive Share Qwnership
Ptan 1,148,451 - (56,323) (1.092,128) - 2475 7an
23 Oct 2018 Approved Share Qption
Plan 2015 664,620 - - (664,620) - 380 750
5 Nov 2019 Approved Share Option
Plan 2015 898,108 - (384,824 (513,282 - 380 750
B Nov 2018 Executive Share Qwnership .
Plan 2,504,475 - (86,667} (2,417,808) - 399 750
21 Sep 2020 Sharesave Scheme 2020 480,678 - {247,080} {233,598} - 355 750
21 Dec 2020 LTIP 799,582 25,188 (108 B8D) (715,890} - Nl 750
15 Dac 2021 LTIP - 665,468 (55,666) (629,802) ' - Nil 750

On 27™ September 2022, following & change in control all the options outstanding fully vested.

The charge for the year was £1,040,000 {2021: £473,000) which relates to the Execulive Share Ownership Scheme, the
Sharesave Scheme 2017 and the Approved Share Qption Plan 2015, and £5,183,000 (2021: £902,000) relating to the Long-
Term Incentive Plan, There are no remaining options at 30 September 2022, the weighted average exercise price of the
remaining aptions is at 30 September 2021 was 315,6p, and the weighted average remaining contraclual life of all share
options putstanding in the prior year was 6.4 years.

23. Equity
2022 2021
Share capltal £000 £000
Allotted, called up and fully paid:
114,915,043 (2021: 113,327,459) ardinary shares of 0.5p each 575 566
53,402 deferred shares of 0.5p each - -
575 566

Share capital represents the nominal (par) value of shares that have been Issued. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to
receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share al meetings of the Company. The
defemred shares have no such rights. Movements in the number of issued shares were as follows:

Ordinary shares of 0.5p each Deferred shares of 0.5p each

Al 1 October 2020 113,173,882 53,402
Issued under Share Schemes 153,467 -
At 30 September 2021 113,327,459 53,402
At 1 October 2021 113,327,459 53,402
1ssued under Share Schemes 1,587,584 -
At 30 Septembar 2022 114,915,043 53,402
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24 Reserves
{(a) Share premium account

Guring the year, the issue of new shares charged to the share premium account are as follows:

2022 2021
£000 fooo
Qpening balance 1 October 133,554 133,079
Premium on issue of shares 5375 472
At 30 September 138,926 133,551
Share premium ingludes any premiurms received on 1ssue of share capital, with the exception of shares issued in cansideration
in acquisitions. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium, net of any
felated income tax benefits.
(b) Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the premium arising on the ordinary shares issued as consideration for the acquisition of shares
in another company (merger relief).
2022 2021
£000 £000
Opening balance 1 October 125,842 125,842
Issue of shares - -
At 30 September 125,842 125,842

{c) Shares held by Executive Shared Ownership Pian

Further information refating to the EBT reserve of the Group Is detailed in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements of

the Group.

{d) Retained earnings

Retained earnings incledes all current and gnor period retaired profits and share-based empioyee remuneration. Dividend
distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have been approved in a

General Meeting prior to the reporting date.
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(o) Other compunents of equity

Other components of equity include the following:

Foreign currency translation reserve — comprises foreign currency Iranslation differences arising from the translation of financial
slatements of the Groups fareign entities net assels.
Changes in shareholding - changes in shareholding of subsidianes which da not result in a change in ownership and are

recognised through equity.
Fareign currency :
fransfation hc':aﬂgff. n’“ Tolal
reserve sharenolding
£000 £000 £000
At 30 September 2020° 53 - 53
Exchange differences on translation of foraign entities {424) - (424)
Movement in equity due to changes in shareholdings - - -
At 30 September 2021 (371) - (371)
Exchange differences con translation of foreign entities 6,655 - 6,655
Movement in equity due to changes in shareholdings - {2,625) (2,625)
At 30 September 2022 6,284 {2,625} 3,659
25, Dividends
The aggregate amount of dividends comprises:
2022 2021
£000 £000
Interim dividend paid in respect of prior year but not recognised as liabilities in that year
(4.6p per share, (2021: 4.0p per share}) 5,210 4,525
Final gividend paid in respect of the prior year (9.5p per share, (2021: 8.75p per share)) 10,759 9,906
Aggregals amount of dividends paid in the financial year (14,1p per share (2021: 12.75p per share)) 15,969 14,431

The aggregate amount of dividends proposed and not recognised as liabilities as at the year end is nil per share, £nil (2021:
14,1p per share, £10,482,790).

Dividends not included above but paid ta the non-controlling interest in Group subsidiary entities amounted to £2,467k (2021:
£2 865k)

26. Financial instruments

The use of financial instruments is managed under policies and procedures approved by the Board. These are designed to
reduce the financial risks faced by the Group, which primarily relate to credit, interest and liquidity risks, which arise in the
normai course of the Group’s business.

Credit risk

Financial instrumenis which potentially expose the Group lo credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents and trade
receivables. Cash equivalents are deposited anly with major financial institutions that salisfy certain credit criteria.

Management has a credit policy in place and exposure 1o credit risk is monitared on an ongeing basis, Credit evajuations are
carried out on all significant praspective customers and alf existing customers requiring credit beyond a certain threshold.
Varying approval levels are set on the extension of credit depending upon the value of the sale.

Where credil risk is deemed to have risan to an unacceplable level, remedial actions including the variation of terms of trade
are implemented under the guidance of senior management until the level of credit risk has been nomalised.

Caretech Holdings Limited {formerly CareTech Holdings PLC) Annual Report and Acgounts 2022 59



DocuSign Envelope |D: ES6B549B-6D85-419A-8963-7CA5B982D3D0

The Group provides credit to customers in the normal course of business. The amounts presented in balance sheet in relation
to the Group's trade receivables are presented net of loss allawances. The Group measures loss allowances al an amount
equal to the lifetime expected credit losses ('ECLs") using both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on
the Group's historical experience and forward-looking infarmation. During the year there was a credit to the censolidated
incomea statement of £102,000 (2021: £301,000 charge) io decrease (he loss allowance.

At the balance sheet date, there were no significani concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the catrying amount of each financial asset. Based on past experience, the Group believes that no further
impaiment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due. The Group conslders that the camying value of
trade receivables approximates to its fair value.

The trade receivables as at 30 September are aged as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Not due 29,871 27,915
Not more than three manths past due 21,571 18,180
More than three months bui not more than six months past due 4,376 4,039
More than six months but not more than 12 months past dug 3,602 3,689
Trade raceivables {Note 14) 55,420 53,822
The movement in provisions for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
£000
At 1 October 2020 1,661
Credited to the consolidated income statement 301
At 30 Seplember 2021 1,962
Charged to the consolidated income statement (102)
At 30 September 2022 1,860

Included in the provision for impairment of lrade receivables is an expected credit loss of £133,000 (2021: £235,000).

Interest rate risk

The Group finances its operations through called up share capital, retained profits, bank borrowings, and the sale of asssts if
appropriate. The Group's income is by its nalure relatively stable and its growth is, inter alia, impacted by inflation. Group policy
is to balanca interest rate fixes between the short, medium and long term. The benchmark rate for bank borrawings is SONIA.
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Liquidity risk

The Group prepares annual cash flow forecasts reflecting known commitments and an.ticipated projects, Bomrowing facilities are

arranged as nacessary lo finance requirements. The Group has available bank facilities, suffician, with cash flow from profits,

to fund present commitments. Term facilities are utilised to fund capital expenditure and short-term flexibility is achieved by the
utilisation of cash resources in respect of financial liabilities. The following table indicates their contractual cash flow maturities.

2022

Contractual cash

Effective interest Carrying amaunt flows <1 year 1~5 years 5 years & over
rate % £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Trade and other payables (81,021) (81,021} (at,0z1) - -
Secured bank loans 4.54% {320,162) {329,244) (329,244) - -
Secured bank loans
REHAVISTA Gmbh 3.00% (598) (598) {T0) (281) (247}
Shareholder loans {148) {148) (148) - -
Lease liabilities (127,824) (432,615) {10,922} (32,448) (389,244)
Detivative financial instruments (4,994) (6,303) - (6,303) -
(534,747) (849,929) (421,405) (39,033} (389,491)
2021
Carrying Cantractual
Effective amount cash flows <1 year 1-5 years 5 years & over
inferesl rate % £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Trade and other payables (70,011} (70,011} (70,011) - -
Secured bank loans 2.04% (317,896)" {335,763} {6,519) (329,244) -
Shareholder loans {1,758) (1,758} {1,758) - -
Lease liabilities (124,231) (432,202) (9,565) (30,567) (392,070)
Derivative financial instruments (5.414) (6,303) - (6,302) -
{523,867) (845,148) (87.,853) {365,225) (392,070)
*Restated see note 29
See note 17 for the matusity dates and intereslt rales charged on the secured bank loans.
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Anaiysis of changes in liabilities from financing activities

The below table represents the movement in liabitities from financing activities:

Sharehalders Derivative financiai

Secured bank loans Accrued interast** Lease liabilities* loan instruments Total*
£0GO £000 £000 £600
1 October 2020 317122 1,492 88,688 4,833 2,198 411,333
Cash flows (438) (7.729) {10,109) - (1.761)  (20,037)
Acquired through business
acquisitions - - 30,964 - - 30,964
New |zases - - 10,287 - - 10,287
Changes in fair value - - - - 4,977 4,977
Effect of foreign exchange - - - (75) - (75)
Interest expense 1,212 7.607 4,451 - - 13,270
30 Septembar 2021 317,896 1,370 124,281 1,758 5414 450,718
Cash flows {4,251} (8,342} {10,764) {1.610) (968)  (25,935)
Acquired through business
acquisitions 4,841 322 1,141 - . 6,304
New leases - - 8,463 - - 8,463
Effect of foreign exchange (3) - - - - 3)
Interest expense 1,860 8,010 4,703 - 548 16,124
30 September 2022 320,343 2,360 127,824 148 4,994 455669

"Reslated see nate 29
** Accrued interest was not praviously inciuded in this analysis

CareTech's three key covenani ratios are leverage (ratio of net debt to covenant EBITDA to be na more than 4.0), interest
cover (ratio of covenant EBITDA to net finance costs 1o be no less than 4x) and LTV {ratio of property value to net debt to be no
more than 62.5%).

Cn 27 September 2022, the Group was acquired by Amalfi Bidco limiled and delisted fram the Altemnative Investment Market
{'AIM"). Following delisting, the Group’s current bank loans of £322.3m were fully repaid on 8 Qctober 2022 and replaced with
intercompany ioans from Amalfi Bidco Limited. :

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital 1o ensure that activities of the Group will be able to continue as a gong concem whilst
maximising returns for shareholders through the optimisation of debt and equity.

The Group's capital structure is as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Net debt 296,025 238,681
Equity 410,934 380,917
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Net debt

Net debt comprises cash and cash equivalents net of bank loans and borrowings and HP leases previously accounted for
under |AS 17 excluding Project Teak sale and leaseback. Net debl remains unchanged following the adoption of IFRS 16.

2622 202t
Nate £000 £000
Nat right in the balance shect comptlaes,
Cash and cash equivalents 27,258 65,560
Bank loans 17 (320,343) (317,896)
Sharehalder loan (148) (1.758)
Lease and hire purchase contracts 18 (4,792) (4,567)
Net debt at 30 September (298,025) (258,661}
Foreign currency risk
Most of The Group's transactions are camied oul in GBP. Exposures to currency exchange rates arise from the Group’s
Investment in ‘the AS Group', registered in the United Arab Emirates, which is denominated in AED, and Smartbox which has
sales to Europe, Norh and Central America, Australasia, Middle East and Africa. All other revenues arise within the UK and all
non-current assets are fikewise located in the UK, Na single external customer amounts to 10% or mare of the Group's
revenues.
At 30 September 2022, it is estimated a 10% movement in GBP/AED would result in a movement of GBP 732,000 in profil
before tax. A 10% mavement in any olher currency exposures would not result in a material movement in profit before tax.
There was na material exposure in the prior year.
Sensitivity analysis
In managing interest rate risks the Group aims 1o reduce the impact of short-term fluctuations on the Group's eamings. Over
the fonger term, however, permanent changes in interest ratas would have an impact on consolidatad eamings.
At 30 September 2022, it is estimated that a general incraase of 1% in interes! rates would impact finance expanse and
decrease the Group's profit befora tax and equity by approximately £3,224,000 (2021; £2,024,000), Economie hedging
instruments have been included in this calculation. The Group does not apply hedge accouniing.
Fair values
The fair values together with the camying amounts shown in the balance sheet are as fellows:
Carrying amount Fair value Carrying Fair value
2022 2022 amount 2027 2021
£000 £000 £000 £000
Financial Instruments al amodised cost
Cash at bank and in hand 27,258 27,258 65,560 65,560
Trade receivables (Note 14) 59,420 §9,420 53,823 53,823
Trade payables (Note 18) {9.314) (9,314} (15,220} (15,220)
Secured bank loans (Nole 17) {323,403) (322,403) (322,403} {322,403)
Acciued interest (2,360) (2,360) (1,370) {1,37D)
Shareholder loan (148) (148) (1.758) (1,758)
Derivative linancial instruments — put option (4,994) (4,994) {4,662) (4,662)
Held at fair value through profit and loss:
Derivative financial instruments - interest rale swaps - - (752) {752)
Contingent consideration - - (3,616) (3,616)
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Where market values are not available, tair values of financiat assets and liabilities have been caiculated by discaunting
expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates with the following assumptions being applied:

. For trade and other receivables and payaoles wilh a remaining life of less than one year the carrying amount is deemed
to reflect thea fair value.

. For casn and cash equivalents the ameunts iepoarted on the balance sheet approximates to fair value.

. Far secured bark loans at floating rate the cammying value is rleemed to reflect the fair value as It represents the price of
the instruments in the markel piace.

. For acerued interest the amount repayable is less than one year and the carrying amount is deemed ta refiect the fair
value.

. For shareholder loans the amount is repayable in less than one year and the carrying amount is deemed to reflect the
fair value.

. For the derivatives financial instruments, these were entered into to manage the Group's exposure to interest rate risk on
its external borowings ana additionally include a put option.

The fair for contingent consideration and the Put option both anse on account of the acquisition In the year. The fair value has
been detenmined based on a multiple of profit, measured using projected cash flows of the entity based on the management's
knowledge of the business and how the current ecanomic environment is likely to impact it. These projections have not been
discounted for the contingant consideration (as they are expected to be paid in less than a year) and have been discounted for
the put option using 7.0%.

With regard to the put optien, a change of +/- 10% in the cash flows and a change in +/-1% in the discount rate would impact
the income statement by £74,000 (2021: £66 000). With regard to the prior year contingent consideration, a change of 10% in
the forecast cash flows would not have a matetial impact on the income statement.

Fair value hierarchy

The financial instruments carried at fair value by valuation methods ara:

2022 2021

£000 £000

Level 1 — unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilitles - -
Leve! 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or

liability either as a direct price or indirectly derived from prices - (752)

Lavel 3 - inputs for the asset or liabilities that are not based on abservabie market data - (3.616)

The fair values for all financial instruments carried at amortised costs are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value
of the contingent consideration is the full amount payable under the earn-out as the Directors expect the gross profit crileria of
Smartbox for the full year ended 30 September 2022 1o be met. The farr value of the put option is derived from an intemnal
valuation of the Smartbox business, utilising both discounted foracast future cash flow and multiples-based methodolagies,
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The reconciliation of cammying amounts classified within Level 3 is as follows:

Contingant
consideration
£000
Balance at 1 Cctober 2020 1,569
Setled in cagh (1,503)
Acquired through business combination 3,550
Recognised in profit or loss .
Balance at 30 September 2021 3,616
Settled in cash {3,550)
Acquired through business combinaticn 1,116
Reuuynised in pofit or loss (1,182)
Balance at 30 September 2022 .
Total amount included in profit or loss for unrealised {gains)/losses on level 3
instruments
2022 2021
£000 £000
Foreign exchange gain (66) -
Caontingent consideration write off {1,116} -
{1,182) -
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27. Related parties

Buring the year, the Group paid rent tolallng £877,948 (2021: £701,155) in respect of properties in which Faroug Sheikl OBE
and Haroen Sheikh have an interast. Al the year end, rent of £182,264 (2021: £159,743) was ouistanding. The !ease liability
recognized al 30 Sepiember 2022 is £4,689,718 (2021: £2,321,600).

Dividends paid to Directors in the year totalled €nil {2021: £51,000).

Transactions with key managerent personnel

2022 2021
{ £000 EQ00D
Salary 3.817 4,233
Benefits 447 635
Bonus 2,629 1,449
Total shor-tern remuneration 6,993 6,317
Post-employment benefits 210 323
Share-based payments - 110
7,203 6,750
Key.management persannel are defined as Directors of the Group and members of the Senior Management Team.
Directors’ emoluments are set out on page 40,
During the year, the Group made danations to the CareTech Charitable Foundation of £1.5m (2021: £1.2m)
28. Group undertakings
The Group has the following investmenls in trading subsidiaries included in the consolidated results for the year. The operating
subsidiaries are engaged in either owning property (‘'Praperty’} or in the pravision of services to adults or children (Trading').
Additionally, the Group has subsidiaries that are non-trading, act as holding companies, or are dormant ('Non-trading’).
Ownership Ownership
Company Compsany number Country of incorporation Type 2022% 2021%
Addington House Limited® 04404355 Engiand and Waies Operating 100 100
Advanced Childcare Services Limited* 07559570 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Advances In Aviism Care 8 Education 03252453 Engtand and Wates Non-trading 100 100
Limited*
Applied Care and Development Ltd* 5C224352 Scotland Operating 100 100
Ashcroft House Limited* 03350658 England and Wales QOperating 100 100
Asghring House Limited® 03370991 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Ashview House Limited* 033044486 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Barleycare Limited* 05156601 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Beacon Care Holdings Limited*+ 03293988 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Beacon Care investments Limited*+ 04351554 Engtand ana Wales Non-trading 100 100
Beacon Care Limited* 03160894 England and Wales Non-trading 100 160
Beech Care Limited* 04050685 England and Wales Qperating 1a0 100
Branas Isaf (Ashfield House) Limited* 05761962 England and Wales Qperating 100 100
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Ownership Ownership
Campany Company numbar Country of incomoration Type 2022% 2021%
Eraqag}saf (Bythnod & Hendre Liwyd) 04826628 England and Wales Operating 100 100

imite

Branas |saf (Dewis) Limited* 04828115 England and Wales Qperating 100 100
Branas |safl (Education Cenire) Limited* 04826662 England and Wales Qperating 100 100
Branas Isaf {Llyn Coed) Lid* D4826774 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Branas Isaf (personal development & 04826959 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
approach lraining) Limited*
Branas Isaf (Therapeutic Provision 05355404 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Limited)*
Branas Isaf Holdings Lid* 04827227 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Eitr:.nas Isaf Personal Development Centre 03744583 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Bright Care Limited* 04050733 England and Wales Ogperating 100 100
By the Bridge Haldings* 05712186 England and Wales Non-trading 100 %00
By the Bridge Limited® 04050928 England and Wales Operating 100 100
By the Bridge Management Company 08587714 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Limited*
By the Bridge North West Limited* 05448746 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Cambian Asperger Syndrome Services 04117476 England and Wales Operating 100 400
Limited*
Cambian Autist Services Limited* 03449214 England and Wales Cperating 100 100
Cambrian Care (Powys} Limited® 03813824 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Childcare Limited® 04280519 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Cambian Childcare Properties Limited* 05274924 England and Wales Property 100 100
Cambian Education Services Limited* 05554772 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian FS Limited* 09501886 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Group Holdings Limited™ 08529407 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Group Limited*+ 08829371 England and Wales Nan-irading 100 100
Cambian Heritage | Limited* 05150238 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Hentage |l Limited* 03898254 England and Wales Froparty 100 100
Interact Care Limited* 04822716 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Cambian Properies (LK) Limited* 05554819 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Signpost Limited* 06253729 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Cambian Whinfell Schoot Limited* 04617562 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Cameron Cara Limileg* SC283940 Scotland Opaerating 100 100
Candour Housing CIC 13562034 England and Wales Operating 100 -
Care Support Services Limited* 05356025 England and Wales QOperating 100 100
CareTech Community Services (No 2) 03894564 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Limited*
CareTech Community Services Limited"+ 02804415 England and Wales Operating 100 100
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Ownership CGwnership
Company Company number Country of incorporation Type 2022% 2021%
CareTech Consulting Limited* 07186925 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Caretech Digital Limited 13601641 England and Wales Operating 100 -
CareTech Esiates {No 2) Limited*+ 06518327 England and Wales Property 00 100
CareTech Estates (No 3) Limiled*+ 06518491 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Estates {(No 4) Limited*+ 06543818 England and Wales Praperty 100 100
CareTech Estates (No 5} Limited*+ Q7027116 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Estates (No 6) Limited*+ 08420656 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTach Estates (Mo 7} Limited*+ Q8s28141 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Estates Limited*+ 05964868 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Foster Care Limited* 05185612 England and Wales Nan-trading 100 100
CareTech Fostering Holdings Limited* 07206383 Engfand and Wales Non-trading 100 100
CareTech Fostering Services* 07205262 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
CaraTech Housing Services® 03438332 England and Wales Mon-trading 100 100
CareTech International (Previously Family 06902547 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Assessment Services limited) Limited*
Clifford House Limited* 03320573 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Colerne Community Care (Kent) Limited* 02755757 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Community Support Project Limited“+ 05941774 England and Wales Non-trading 140 100
Complete Care & Enablement Services 05305163 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Limited*
Continuum Care and Education Group 05804360 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Limited*
Counticare Limited* 02585666 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Coveberry Limited* 01208511 England and Wales Operating 100 190
Daisybrook Limited* 03026221 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Dawn Hodge Associates Limited® 04130146 England and Wales Qperating 100 100
Delam Care Litnited* 02995783 England and Wales QOperating 100 100
Delham Care Limited® 02748991 £ngland and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Elite Children's Care Limited* 05251327 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Emeraldpoint Limited* 03098188 England and Wales Operating 100 100
EnableAll Limited 13540728 England and Wales Qperating 100 -
EQEt Solutions Limited*+ 08758477 England and Wales QOperaling 100 100
Farrow House Limited* 03504115 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Fostering Support Group Limited” 02359399 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Franklin Homes Limited* 03002865 England and Wales Cperating 100 100
Glenroyd House Limited” 04326288 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Gloucestershire Autism Services Limited® 03091510 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Green Coms Limited* 03918305 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
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Ownership QOwnership
Company Company number Country of incorporation Type 2022% 2021%
Szingelds Adolescent Devefoprment 04068838 Engtand and Wales Oparating 100 100
ited*
Greenfields Care Group Limited* 04642100 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Hereson House Limited” 04385252 England and Wales Cperating 100 100
Hens Care (Escort and Supervision 03648069 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Services) Limited*
Herts Care Group Limited* 04539660 England and Wales Non-trading 100 106
Hens Care Limited® 03400914 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Herts Care Praperty Limited” 04132387 England and Wales Nan-trading 100 100
Huntsmans Lodge Limited* 04668317 England and Wales Qperating 100 100
ILr_lde:aedndent Childcare Group of Schools 02525026 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
imited*
Inhoce 2993 Limited® 04934338 England and Walas Non-trading 100 100
K Q B Care Limited* 03039698 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Kirksiall Lodge Limited* 04778674 England and Wales Operating 100 100
l.eigham Lodge Limited* 04583599 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Lohsdale Midlands Limited* 02834141 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Lyndhurst Psychiatric Residential Care 02958528 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Limitad®
Magnolia Court Limited* 05444649 England and Wales Cperating 100 100
Mason Property Development Company 04308272 England and Walas Property 100 100
Limited*
Oakleaf Care (Hartwell) Limitad* 05225317 Engiand and Wales Operating 160 100
One Six One Limited* 04136284 England and Wales Cpersting 100 100
One Step (Support) Limited* 04534652 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Onetnye Step Limited* 08339192 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Outiook Fostering Services Limited* 04357704 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Palm Care Limited® 04050739 England and Wales Oparating 100 100
Park Foster Care Ltd* 04861395 England and Wales QOperaling 100 100
Patk Foster Care Services Scotland 5C427502 Scotland Operating 100 100
Limited*
Phoenix Therapy and Care Limited* SC254555 Scotland Operating 100 100
Pinpacle Supported Living Limited*” 02736242 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Prestwood Residential Homes Ltd* 04129564 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Primrose Court Limited” 04803769 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Professional Integrated Care Services 04771613 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Limited*
Purple Zest Limited*+ 11421082 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Roborough House Limited® 05054294 England and Wales Operating 100 100
ROC North West Lid* 05564417 England and Wales Operating 100 100
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Ownership Cwnership
Company Company number  Country of incorparaticn Typs 2022% 2021%
Rosedale Children’s Services Limited® 04932054 England and Wales Operating 100 100
SACCS Care Limited” (04495879 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
SACCS Limited* 04497910 England and Wales Non-trading 100 00
Selborne Care Limited® 05513162 England and Wales Qperating 100 100
Selwyn Care Limited* 03737832 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Smartbax Holdings Limited 12813708 Engfand and Wales Nan-trading 83 h%
Smartbox Assistive Technology Limited 05541084 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Sn')\adbox Assistive Technology Inc. (US 6082148 Delaware, US Operating 100 100
[+
Smanbox Assistive Technology (EL) 658998 Ireland QOperating 100 100
(Ireland co)
Sensory Software Intermnational Limited 03662043 England and Wales QOperating 100 100
REHAVISTA GmbH HRB 28676 HB  Germany Operating 100 -
LogBuk GmbH HRB 28989 HB  Germany Operating 100 -
South East Care Services Limited* 02296352 Engtand and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Spark of Genius Limited* SC479758 Scotland Non-trading 100 100
Spark Of Genius (North Easty LLP OLC3B4807 England and Wales Operating 50 50
Spark Of Genius (Traintng) Limited* SC196146 Scotland Qperating 100 100
St Michael's Support & Care Limited* 059378585 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Sunnyside Care Homes Ltd* 04588719 England and Wales Qperating 100 100
The Community Care Company UK 02816119 England and Wales Non-trading 00 100
Limited*
TLC (Wales) Independent Fostering 04824925 Englang and Wales Operating 100 100
Limited*
Trojan Spark Limited* SC453152 Scotland Non-trading 100 100
Uplands (Fareham) Limited* 03488896 Engiand and Waies Operating 100 100
Valeo Commupity Projects Limited* 03941224 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Valeo Limited*+ 04099715 Ergland and Wales Operating 100 100
Victoria Lodge Limited* 04454845 £ngland and Wales Operating 100 100
Vosse Court Limited* 04778676 England and Wales Operating 100 100
White Cliffs Lodge Limited* 04351559 England and Wates Operating 100 100
‘Wyatt House Limited* 04318271 Engiand and Waies Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Developments Il Limited 104724 Jersey? Non-trading 100 100
H20 Limited FCa7291 Gibraltar Nan-trading 100 100
Hazeldene UK Limited' FCOY8967 Gibrallar Cperating 100 100
Cambian Properties H Limited 91131 Jersey? Property 100 100
CareTech Cloud Limiteg* 12392389 England and Wales Non-trading 1¢0 100
CareTech Cigital Limited*® 136016414 England and Wales Non-trading 100 -
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Ownership Cwnership
Company Company number Country of incorperation Type 2022% 2021%
CTH-Digitai Lab Limited* 13921797 England and Wales Operating 100 .
CareTech Design and Build Limited* 13729966 England and Wales Nan-trading g 100 -
Candaour Housing CIC* 13562034 England and Wales Qperating 100 -
CareTech Mena Social Care LLC 1010563230 Saudi Arabia Non-trading 100 100
CareTech Holdings Limited 3381 United Arab Emirates Non-trading 100 100
AS1 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM) 3272 United Arab Emirates Non-trading 52 52
AS2 Investments Holdings Ltd (ADGM) 5298 United Arab Emirates Non-trading ' 89.9 Bg.9
AS Investments Holding Lid fADGM) 3087 Unitled Arab Emirates Non-trading 52 52
Macani Medical Centre CN-1937451 United Arab Emirates Operating 98 99
AS Narthwood Investments Holdings LLC CN-2696945 United Arab Emirates Non-trading 99 99
(ADBGM)
ACPN Dubai 674030 United Arab Emirates Operating 85 65
ACPN Abu Dhabi CN-1142528 United Arab Emirates Operating 8BS 65
ACPN Al Ain CN-1142528-1 tUnited Arab Emirates Operating BS 65
AS3 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM}) 6837 United Arab Emirates Non-trading 51 -
DBG HaidCo 6810 United Arab Emirates Non-trading 70.7 .
Bayti Home Healthcare LLC (Abu Dhabi) CN-15331981 United Arab Emirates Operating 29 -
Bayti Home Healthcare LLC (Abu Ajman) 72626 United Arab Emirates Operating 993 -
DMETCGO Home Heailthcare LLC (Abu CN-1269453 United Arab Emirates Operating 1) -
Dhabi)
DMETCO Home Healthcare LLC Brangh 1 CN-1269453-1 United Arab Emirates Operating 99 -
AS4 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM) 6798 United Arab Emirates Non-trading 52 -
Wellness Oneday Surgery MF3622 United Arab Emirates Operating 99 -
Wellness Pharmacy PF3070 United Arab Emirates Operating 99 -
Care Talent Advisors Limited* 12391623 England and Wales Non-trading B0 60
Jobzooma Limited 10127824 England and Wales Operating 294 294
Recruiterlink Limited 11665920 England and Wales Operating 29.4 294

! Has a UK designated trading branch, Hazeldene UK Limited.
2 Registered office 9 Burrard Street, 5t Helier, Jersey JE4 ESE.
*  Owned directly by the Company.

These subsidiaries have laken advantage of the audit exemption under s479A and s479C of the Companies Act 2006 for
the period ended 30 September 2022. As such, the Company has provided a guarantee against all debts and liabilities in these
subsidiaries as at 30 September 2022,

Exemption from audit by Parent guarantee

The Company baing the ultimate sole sharehalder of its subsidiaries has decided to take the exemption from audit of 2 number
of subsidiaries for the year ended 30 September 2022 under Sections 479A and 479C of the Companies Act 2006 and the
Company will provide a guarantee for all the liabilities of those entities as at 30 Seplember 2022 detailed above with the
exception of Spark of Genius (North East) LLP.

Wholly-owned subsidiaries incorparated in Gibrattar, Germany, UAE, Saudi Arabia, USA, Ireland and Jersey will not be covered
by the Parant Company guaraniee as they are incorporated outside of the UK.
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Uniess otherwise stated baiow, the registered offices of all subsiviaries is Sth Floor Metropalitan House, 3 Darkes Lane, Pollers

Bar, England, ENE 1AG with the exception of:

Company

Address

Applied Care and Development Ltd

Nethernea House, Benkend Road, Dumfries, DG1 4AL

Cameron Care Limited

inspire Children Services, Lochview, Fort William, Inverness-Shire, PH33 7NP

Dawn Hodge Associates Limited

Fiveways House, Bulldwas Road, Neston, CH64 3RU

Park Foster Care Services Scotland Limited

272 Bath Strest, Glasgow, G2 4JR

Phoenix Therapy and Care Limited

1 Lodge Street, Haddington, East Lothian, EH41 3DX

Professional Integrated Care Services
Limited

Tan Y Fron, Pontardulais Road, Crosshands, Carmarthenshire, SA14 6PG

Spark of Genius Limited

Trojan House Pegasus Avenue, Phoenix Business Park, Paisley, PA1 2BH

Spark of Genius {(North East) LLP

King Edwin School Mill Lane, Nortan, Stocktan-On-Tees, North Yorkshire, TS20 1LG

Spark of Genius (Training) Limited

Trofar House Pegasus Avenue, Phoenix Business Park, Paisley, PA1 2BH

Trojan Spark Limited

Trofan House Pegasus Avenue, Phoenix Business Park, Paisiey, PA1 2BH

H20 Limited

Montagu Pavillion, 8-10 Queensway, Gibraltar

Hazeldene UK Limited

Montagu Pavillion, 8-10 Queensway, Gibraltar

CareTech Mena Social Care LLC

7534 King Abdul Aziz Road ~ Al Ghadeer District, Unit No 44, Riyadh 13311-4672,
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

CareTech Holdings Limited

2459, 24, Al Sila Tower, Abu Dhabi Global Market Square, Al Maryah Island, Abu Dhabi,
United Arab Emirates

AS1 Invastments Helding Ltd (ADGM)

2458 Al Sita Tower, ADGM Square, Al Marya Island Abu Dhabi, UAE

AS2 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM)

16th Floor, Wework Hub?1, Al Khatem Tower, AOGM Square, Al Maryah Island, Abu Dhabi,
United Arab Emirates

AS Investments Holding Ltd {(ADGM)

2458 Al Sila Tower, ADGM Square, Al Marya Island, Abu Dhabi, UAE

Macani Medical Centre

Ahmed Ali Mohamed Abdulla Alsayegh Building, Office 205,
GH 10, Q 63, T 2, Al Khalidiah Street, Abu Dhabi, UAE

AS Northwood Investments Holdings LLGC
(ADGM)

Unit of Ahmed Ali Mohamed Abdulla Alsayegh, West 10,0,
PO Box No. 52613, Abu Dhabi, UAE

ACPN Dubai Jumeirah Sunset Mail, Jumeirah 3, PQ Box 66026, Dubai, UAE

ACPN Abu Dhabi Khalid bin Abdul Aziz Street, Mounira Sheikh Ahmed Al Mubarak Building, PO 8ax 108638,
Abu Dhabi, UAE

ACPN Al Ain Villa of Mohammed Raashid Moharmmed and others, Al Ghil, Al Ma'atand, Al Ain, Abu Dhabi,

UAE

AS3 Investments Holding Lid (ADGM)

2458 Al Sila Tower, ADGM Square, Al Marya Istand Abu Dhabi, UAE

DBG HpldCo

P.O Box 52613, Unit No. 501, Level 5, Index Tower, Dubai Intermnational Financial Centre
(DIFC), Dubai, UAE

Bayti Home Healthcare LLC {Abu Dhabi)

P.0 Box 52643, Unit No. 501, Level &, Index Tower, Dubai intermational Financial Centre
(DIFG), Dubai, UAE

Bayti Home Healthcare LLC (Abu Ajman)

P.O Box 52613, Unit Na. 501, Level 5, index Tower, Dubai Internationai Financial Centre
(DIFC), Dubai, UAE

DMETCOQ Home Heafthcare LLC (Abu
Dhabi)

P.O Box 52813, Unit Na. 501, Level 5, Index Tower, Dubai Intematicnal Financial Centre
{DIFC), Dubai, UAE

DMETCO Home Healthcare LLC Branch 1

P.O Box 52613, Unit No. 501, Level 5, Index Tower, Dubai Intemational Financial Centre
{OIFC), Dubai, UAE

AS4 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM)

2458 Al Sila Tower, ADGM Square, Al Marya Island Abu Dhabi, UAE
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Company Address

Weliness Oneday Surgery P.0Or Box 52613, Unit No. 501, Level 5, Index Tower, Dubai fnternational Financial Centre

(DIFC), Dubai, UAE

Wellness Phamacy P.O Box 52613, Unit No. 501, Level 5, Index Tower, Dubai International Financial Centre

(DIFC), Oubai, UAE

Smartbox Assistive Technology Limited Ysobel House Enigma Commercial Centre, Sandys Road, Malven, Worcestershire, England,

WR14 1JJ

Smartbox Assistive Technology Inc. {US co) 2831 Leechburg Road, NEW KENSINGTON, PA 15068, Westmoreland

Smartbox Assistive Technology (EUY

Jpa Brenson Lawlor House, Argyle Sgquare Morehampton Road, Dennybrook, Dublin
(Ireland co) ' (

Sensory Software International Limited Seneca House Links Point, Amy Johnson Way, Blackpool, Lancashire, F¥4 2FF

REHAVISTA GmbH Konsul-Smidl-Strafie 8BC, 28217 Bremen, Germany

LogBuk GmbH Konsul-Smidt-Stralke BC, 28217 Bremen, Gemmany

Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest (*"NCI")

The Group has aggregated the subsidiary financial information of the AS Group acquired on 4 February 2020. On 4 February 2022
the further acquisitions of Wellness and Dmetco {see note 4) have been included in the AS Group. The Group has considered it
appropriate to aggregate the information due to geographical location and the nature of the activities baeing performed is consistant,
The below table shows the subsidiaries that form pan of the Group.

Praportion of
ownership
interasts held by
non-contrgiting

Proportion of
voling rights held by
non-coniroliing interests

Subsidiary name Principal place of business interests™®

2022 2024 2022 2021
A% Investments Halding Lid (ADGM) United Arab Emirales 48% 48% 48% 48%
AS Northwood Investments Holdings LLC (ADGM}  United Arab Emirates 1% 1% 1% 1%
ACPN Dubai United Arab Emirates 43.8% £6.5% 15% 35%
ACPN Abu Dhabi United Arab Emirates 43.8% 66.5% 15% 35%
ACPN Al Ain United Arab Emirates 43.8% 66.5% 15% 35%
AS1 Invesiments Holding Ltd (ADGM) United Arab Emirates 48% 48% 48% 48%
AS2 Investments Helding Lid (ADGM) United Arab Emirates 10.1% 10.1% 10.1% 10.1%
Macani Medical Centre United Arab Emirates 46.1% 46.1% 1% 1%
AS3 Investments Holding Lid (ADGM) United Arab Emirates 49% 49% - -
DBG HoldCo United Arab Emirates 64.0% 29.3% - -
Bayti Home Healthcare LLC {(Abu Dhabi) United Arab Emirates 64.3% 1% -
gayﬂ Home Healthcare LLC (Abu Ajman) United Arab Emirates 64.3% 1% - -
DMETCO Home Healthcare LLC {Abu Dhabi) United Arab Emirates 64.3% 1% - -
DMETCO Home Healthcare LLC Branch 1 United Arab Emirates 64.3% 1% - -
AS4 Investiments Holding Ltd (ADGM) United Arab Emirates 48% 48% - -
Weliness Oneday Surgery United Arab Emirates 48.5% 1% - -
Wellness Phamacy United Arab Emirales 48.5% 1% - -
Caretech Holdings Limited {formerly CareTech Holdings PLC) Annua! Report and Accounts 2022 73



DocuSign Enveiope iD: E86B549B-6[385-412A-8963-7CASBY982D3D0

"Restated see note 29

** Ownersiip interests reflect the indirect economic Interest heid by the Group in material NCIs. The vating rights refiect the
actual voling rights held by NCI in each of the entities disclosed

2022 2029
£'000 £'060
Profit allocated to NCis during the reporting sariod 2,698 2,001
Dividends paid (1,54%) {1,160)
Changes in sharenoldings {1,152} -
Acquisitions 11,912 -
Foreign currency iranslation reserve 3,611 {321y
Accumulated NCI at 30 September 25,201 9,681
“Restated see note 29
Summarised financial information for the AS Group is set out in the table below:
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Current assels 18,670 9,344
Non-current assets 4,543 304
Current liabilities {9.684) (2,213)
Non-current liabilities (148) (1,758)
Revenue 44 471 25,054
Profit and total comprehensive income 6,158 3,131
Net cash frorn operating activities 1,987 (40)
Net cash used in investing activities (201) {160)
et cash used in financing activities 1,279 {1,160}
Net cash inflaw/{autfloaw) 3,056 {1,360

The Group has aggregated the subsidiary financial information of Smarbox Assistive Technology Limited and associated
subsidiaries, and Sensory Software Intemationat Limited (Collectively 'Smartbox’) acquired on 5 October 2020 REHAVISTA
GmBH, acquired on 29 Novembar, is included in the Smartbox aggregation, see note 4. The Group has considered it
appropnale to aggregale lhe infarmation due 1o geographical location and the nature of the activities being performed beaing
consistent, The below table shows the subsidiaries that form part of the Group.

Prapertion of ownership Proportion of voting rights
interests held by held by non-controlling

Subsidiary name Principal place of business non-cantrallng interests*® interests
2022 2021 2022 2021
Smartbox Heidings Limited England and Wales 17% 30% 17% 30%
* Ownership interests reflect tha indirect ecanomic interest held by the Group in material NCIs. The veting rghts reflect the
actual voting rights held by NC| in each of the entities disclosed
2022 2021
£'000 £1000
Profit allccated to NCIs during the reporting period 526 464
Changes in shareholdings {901) -
Accumulated NCI at 30 September 1,539 1,914
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Summarised financlal information for the Smartbox Group is set out in the table below:

2022 2021
£'000 £000
Current assets 139 139
Non-current assets 20,668 11,983
Current liabilities (2,769} ’ (3,550)
Non-current liahilities ' (5,830) (2,780)

29, Restatement
During the current finanrial yrar the following disclosure errors were identified and the comparatives have been restated.

a) Leases
i It has been identified that the total cash outflows for leases disclosed in note 10 of £7,693,000 has been
understated by £5,019,000, being £2,467 000 relating o cash flows from leasss previously reported as
finance leases under IAS 17 and cash flows of £2,552,000 relating to low valug and short-term leases, both
of which were excluded the disclosure in error. The comection is explained in the below table:

2021
£000
Total cash outfiows for leases as previously presented in Note 11 7,693
Existing |AS 17 leases now under IFRS 16 2,487
Low value and short-term leases 2,552
Restated total cash outflows for leases presented in Note 11 12,712
Ii, It has been identified that the table representing the movements in the analysis of changes in liabiiities
from financing activities in Note 26 has incorrectly classified and increase £5,675,000 as acquired through
business combination as opposed to new leases. Additianally, a total amount of £879,000 relating to the
expense and related cash flows for hire purchase motor vehicle interest, £413,000, and ground rent
interest, £466,000, were left out of the disclosure in error, however correctly included in the income
statement and statement of cash flows. This cormection is presented in the balow table:
Business Previous Restatad
Lease liabilties Combinations IAS 17 leases lease liabilities
£000 £000 £000
t October 2020 84,668 - - 86,688
Cash flows (9,230) - (879) (10,108)
Acquired through business acquisitions 36,639 (5.675) - 30,964
New leases 4,612 5,675 - 10,287
Interest expense 3,572 - B79 4,451
30 September 2021 124,281 - - 124,281

iiil, it has been identified the expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of the lease
liability in note 11 in 2021 was emoneously disclosed as £321,000, as a significant number of short-term
lease cosls were omitted. The correct armount is £2,552,000.
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B}  Nan-controlling interests

It has been identified that an error was included in note 28 relating to profit aliocated to NCls during the
reporting period for AS Group and the accumulate NCI at 30 September 2021, Dividends and foreign
currency translation reserve were incorrectiy netted off to determine profit in 2021, As a result, the closing
reserves position is incorrect, it should be £8,681,000 which includes a £46,000 opening balance
discrepancy.

Profit allocated ta NCIs Accumulate NCI

£000 £00D

Previously stated 529 9,567
Dividends 1,160 1,160
Foreign currency translation reserve 320 -
Other - (46)
Restated 2.001 8,681

il The table containing proportion of ownership interests held by non-controlling interes!s was incorrectly
presented in the AS Group disclosure in nete 28. Additionally the change in stiucture was omitted to be
presented, AS2 invesiments Holdings Ltd (ADGM) has now been inclugded. This did not result in any
measurement of the NCis which were correctly calculated.

Proportion of
ownership

interests held by
non-contralling

Proportion of

veting nghts beld by
non-controlling interests

Subsidiary name Principal place of business interests

Previous  Restated Previous Restated
ACPN Dubai United Arab Emirates 35% 66.5% 35% 35%
ACFN Abu Dhabi United Arab Emirates 35% 66.5% 35% 35%
ACPN Al Ain Unfted Arab Emirates 35% 66.5% 35% A5%
AS1 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM) United Arab Emirates 6% 48% 6% 48%
AS2 Investments Holding Lid (ADGM) United Arab Emirates - 10.1% - 10.1%
Macani Medical Cenlre United Arab Emirates 51% 48.1% 51% 1%
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¢} Laans and bormawings

Note 17 and the table of contractua| cash flow maturities included in note 26 incormectly disclosed the carying
amounts of secured bank loans gross of unamaortised finance fees that have been capitalised of £4,507,000 as at 30
September 2021, The correct amount should be £317,896,000. This restatement is illustrated in the tables below:

recorded directly in equity

£000 £000
Previously
presented Restated
Loan principal 322,403 322,403
Unamortised finance fees - {4,507)
Shareholders Icans 1,756 1,758
324,161 318,654
£0oo
Securad bank
loans
Previously presented 322,403
Unamortisad finance fees (4.507)
Restated 317,896
d) Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity as at 30 September 2021 incorrectly included in the balance
total comprehensive income of £34, 584,000, The correct amount is £17,883,000. There is no impact to the totat
equity as at 30 September 2021,
. Total
RB!ZI:I'I!U Merger a?: g:z::: cnnlrul:ll‘?:g.; Tn:al
eamings reserve of tha intarest equity
Parent
£000 E000 €000 £000 EQOO
Previously
Trangactions with awners
" ! - 15,01 1, 16,701
recorded directly in equity 14,499 5016 685 8.70
Restated
Transaclions with owners (17,409) _ (16.468)  (1,415) (17.883)

All restatements during the year have been referenced to this note,
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Company Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 September 2022

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Non-current assels
Tangible assets 122 135
Investrnents 32 411,188 402,781
411,310 402,916
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 33 223,227 236,041
- Cash and cash equivalents 559 1,553
223,786 237,594
Total assets 635,096 640,510
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 34 321,196 -
Trade and other payables s 41,995 40,642
363,191 40,642
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 34 - 319,356
Total liabilities 363,191 359,998
Net assets 271,905 280,512
Equity
Share capital 37 575 565
Shara premium 124,926 133.5851
Mergar reserve 125,842 125,842
Retaired eamings 6,962 20,553
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Parent 271,905 280.512

Under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is exempt from the requirement to present its own Income

statement. The loss for the year included in the financial statements of the Company was £4,245,000 (2021 profit.

£12,584,000).

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 26™ June 2023 and were

signed on its bahalf by:

Farsug, Sheith (lurs Dickinson.
Farauq Sheikh QBE Christopher Dickinson
Group Executive Chairman Group Chief Financlal Officer

Company number 04457287

Caretech Holdings Limited (formerty CareTech Holdings PLC) Arnual Report and Accounts 2022

78



DeocuSign Envelope ID: E86B5498-6D85-419A-8963-7CASB98203D0

Company Statement of Changes in Equity

as at 30 September 2022
Share capital Share premium  Merger reserve Retained earnings Total equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 October 2020 565 133,080 125,842 21,025 280,512
Profit for the year and lotal comprehensive income - - - 12,584 12,584
Issue of shares 1 471 - - 472
Share-based payments’ charge - - - 1,375 1,378
Dividends - - - (14,431) (14,431)
At 30 September 2021 566 133,551 125,842 20,553 7 280,512
At 1 Qctober 2021 566 133,551 125,842 20,553 280,512
Loss for the year and tolal comprehensive income - - - (4,245) (4,245)
Issue of shares 9 5,375 - - 5,384
Share-based payments’ charge - - - 6,223 6,223
Dividends - - - (15,969) {15,969)
At 30 September 2022 575 138,926 125,842 6,562 271,905
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements

30. Accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation

CareTech Holdings PLC ('1he Cormpany') meers the definition of a qualifying entity under Financial Reporting Standard ('FRS")
100, issued by the Financial Reporting Council { FRC'}. Accordingly, tha financial statemenis have been prepared in
accaordance with FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost
basis except in respect of those financial instrurnents that have been measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Historical cost is generally based an the fair value of the cansideration given in exchange for goods and sarvices.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Campany has takan advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in
relation 1o share-based payment, financial instruments, capital management, presentation of comparative information in respect
of cerlzin assels, presentation of cash flow statement and certain related-party transactions.

(b) Investments

Investrnents in subsidiary underlakings are stated in the balance sheet af the Campany at cost lass impairment written off.

{c) Cash and liquid resources

Cash, for the purpose of the cash flow statemarnt, comprises cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand and those with
maturities of three months or less frem inception, less overdrafts payable on demand.

{d} tnterest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference belween proceeds [net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value being recognised in the consolidated income statement over the period of the borrowings on
an effective interast basis.

Borrowings are classified as current Jiabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the reparting date,

{e} Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that { relates ta items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payabie on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payablea in respect of previous years.

{f} Revenue

Revenue represents managemeni fees recgivable, in respect of the period! to which rmanagement services relate.

{g) Share-based payments

The share option programme allows employees to acquire shares of the Company. The fair value of options granted is
recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and
spread over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entited to the options. The fair value of the oplions
granted is measured using an oplion pricing model, taking into account the terms and condilions upon which the oplions were
granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where
forfeiture: is orly due to share prices not achigving the threshold for vesting.

Where the Company grants options over its own shares to the employees of its subsidiaries it recogrises an increase in the
cost of investment in its subsidiaries equivalent o the equity-settled share-based payment charga recognised in its subsidiary's
financial statements with the coresponding credit being recognised directly in equity.

{h) Employee Benefit Trust {'EBT’)

The Company has not elected to consolidale the employee benefit trust and conseaquently recognise it as an investment in
subsidiary, and recognise a receivable balance for any shares issved to the trust, and is subsequantly measured at amortised
cost. These receivables are payable on demand and do not carry any interest. Considering these amounts are: receivable on
tha sale of shares held by the trust and such shares are quated higher than the value receivable, the Company are of the view
that there are no credit losses as at balance sheet date.
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(i) Financial instruments
Recogpnition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. All inancial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable).
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the
Company designated a financial liability at fair value through prefit or loss. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities are described below.

Financial assets are derecagnised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the
financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished,
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, iinancial assets are classified into the following categories upon initial
recognition:

» Financial assets at amortised cost.
. Financial assels/liabilities held at (FVTPL').

FVTPL assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The fair values of
financial assets in this calegory are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where
no active market exists. '

All income and expenses relating 1o financial assets that are recognised in the cansolidated income statement are presented
within finance costs or finance income, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within other
administrative expenses.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the follewing cenditions (and are not designated as
FVTPL):

» they are held within a business model whose objeclive is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows;
and

= the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely paymenis of princlpal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is omitled where
the effect af discounting is immaterial. The Company's cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into
this category of financtal instruments,

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assels that are held within a diffarent business model other than 'hold to collect’ ar ‘hold to cellect and sell* are
categorised at fair vaiue through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose contractual
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall
into this category,

Assets in this categary are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or Joss. The fair values cf financial
assets in this categery are detemmined by reference to active market transactions or using a vatuation technique where no
active market exists.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

The Company's financlal liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables and derivative financial instruments. Financial
liabilities are measured subsequently at amartised cest using the effective intarest method, except for financial liabilities held for
trading or designated at FVTPL, that are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in the consolidated
income statement. All derivative financial instrumenis thal are not designated and effective as hedging instrumenis are
accounted for at FVTPL.

Allinterest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument's fair value that are reported in consclidated income
statement are included within finance costs ar finance incorne.
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From time to time, the leng-tem debt held by the Company are either refinanced as these come to maturity, or the margin an
these facifities movas i line with the ratio of the Group's net debt to adjusted EBITDA. In either scenario, the Company reviews
whether the debt is accounted for as 2 modification or 2n extinguishment of the ligbility. A substantial modification should be
accounted for as an extinguistiment of the existing liability and the recognition of a new liability. A non-substantial modification
shauld be accounted for as an adjiustment to the existing liability. Both the quantitative and qualitative aspects of the
modification are taken into account to ascertain whether the modification is substantial and these can include the change in
covenanis, repayment datas and the effeciive interest rate. If medificalion accounting is adopted, the carrying value af the
axisting liability is adjusted for faas paid or costs incurred and the effective interast rate is 2manded at the rmadification date, if
extinguishment atcounting is adopted, the existing hability is de~recognised and the new or modified liability is recognised at its
fair value, the gain or loss equal to the difference between the carrying value of the old liability and the fair value of the new one
is recognised, any incrementa! costs or fees incurred and any consideration paid or received is recognised in prafit or loss and
a new effective interest rate for the medified liability iz caleulated and used in future periads.

Derivative financial instruments

From time to time, tha Company enters into derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to manage its
exposuse to interast rate risk.

Derivatives are infially recognised al fair value al the date a derivative is emered imo and are subseguently re-measured 1
their fair value at each balance sheet date. A derivative with a pesitive fair value is recognised as a financial asset wheraas a
derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial fiability, The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the
consuolidated income statement immediately. A derivative s presented as a non-current asset or non-current liability if the
Campany has an unconditional Fight to defer payment beyend 12 months, Otherwise derivatives are presented as current
assets or liabilities.

As part of the incorporation of Smartbox Holdings, the Group has granted the non-controlling interests the option to request the
Group to acquire some or all of their shares in Smartbox Haolgings Limited, The Company recognises tha liability for this put
opticn on a nat pasis as it is Not own equity.

(j) Dividends on shares presented within sharehaolders’ funds

Dividends unpazid at the balance sheet date are only recognisad as a liability at that date to the extent that they are
appropnately authorised and are no langer &t the discretien of the Company. Unpaid dividends that do not meet these criteria
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(k) Merger reserve

The merger raserve represents the premiurn arising on the ordinary shares issued as consideration for the acquisitton of shares
in another company (‘merger relief).

Merger reserve

2022 2021
£000 £000
Cpening balance 1 October 125,842 125,842
Issue of shares (see Note 24) - -
At 30 Seplember 125,842 125,842
31. Dividends
The aggregate amount of dividends cemprises:
2022 2021
£000 £000
Interm dividend paid in respect af priar year but not recagnised as labilities in that year
{4.6p per share, {2021: 4.0p per share}) 5,210 4,525
Final dividend paid In respect of the prior year (9.5p per share, (2021: B.75p per share)) 10,758 9,906
Aggregate amount of dividends paid in the financial year {14.1p per share (2021: 12.75p per share}) 15,969 14,431

The aggragate amount of dividends prupbsed and not recognisad as liabilities as at the year-end is nil per share, £nil {2021:
14,1p per share, £10,482,790).
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32. Investments

Shares in Group

undertakings
£000
Cost and net book value
At 1 October 2021 402,781
Acquisitions (see Note 4) B,407
At 30 September 2022 411,188
33. Trade and other receivables
2022 2021
£000 £a00
Amounls owed by up undertakings
y Group 9 206,616 224,738
Al d ! n nef
mounts owed by the Employment Benefit Trust 10,763 11.303
A
mounts owed by parent 5.327 i
th
Other debtors 521 )
223,227 236,041
These balances owed by Group undertakings accrue intercompany interest at a rate of 3% per annum and are repayable on
demand. Please refer tg note 1 and the statement on going concem. Intercompany financial assets were assessed by
management for impairment using the expected credit loss model under IFRS 9. The assets are considered to have low credit
risk and consequentially an immaterial credit loss was assessed and no provision has been made.
34, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
This note provides information about the contractuat terms of the Company's interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more
information about the Group's exposure to interest rate risk, please see note 26 in the Group accounts.
Terms and debt repayment schedule
Boaok value Book value
Nominal interest Year of 2022 2021
Currency rate (%) maturity £000 £000
Term loan £ 4.29 (2021: 2.04)" 2023 161,202 161,202
Term loan £ 4.54 (2021: 2.04) 2023 161,201 161,201
Revolving credit facility term loan £ (2021: 2.04) 2023 - -
322,403 322,403

*  The margin on the facilities is stated at the current rate and can change between 1.50% and 3.25% based on the ratic of

the Group's net debt to adjusted EBITDA,

The principal amounts and associated interest were settled in full on 7 Oclober, plaase seg nate 26.
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35. Trade and other payables

2022 2021
£000 £000
Amounts due to Growp underiakings 30,302 37,259
Ciher creditors 11,6583 3,383
41,895 40,842
These balances due to Group undertakings agcrue intercompany interest at a rate of 3% per anoum.
36. Contingent liabilities
As per nole 2B, the Company have laken the audit exemption for @ number of subsidiaries by virtue of s479A of the Companies
Act. A Parent Company guarantee has been provided for these entities under s479C of the Companies Act.
37. Called-up share capital
2022 2021
£000 £0600
Allotted, catled up and fully paid:
114,915,043 (2021: 113,327,458) ordinary shares of 0.5p each 575 566
53,402 deferred shares of 0.5p each 0 0
575 566

The holders of the ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from fimea to time and are entitied o one vole
per share at meetings of the Company. The deferred shares have no such rights. Details in respect of the movements in equity
are given in note 23 to the Group financial statements.

Details in respect of the reserves are given in note 24 to the Group financial statements.

38. Staff numbers and costs
The Company has no employees (2021: none) other than ine Directors. Directors’ emgluments are shown an page 44.

35. Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

The Company operates a number of defined contribution pension plans. The total Company expense reiating to these plans in
the current year was £nil (2021: £nil),

Share-based payments
Thete was no expense for share-based payments relating to the Company's employaes in the year (2021: Enil).

The grants and related accounting treatment adopted by the Company Is identical to that operated by the Group under IFRS 2
‘Share-Rased Payments' (see note 22).

40. Retated parties
The Company receives dividends from its subsidiaries accarding to their ability ta remit them and received interest in intergroup
loans. Other details of related-party transactions have been given in note 27 to the consolidated accounts,

Under FRS 161, the Company is exempt from disclosing key management personnel compensation and transactions with ather
entities wholly owned by the Company.
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41. Controlling party

Pricr to 27 September 2022, Caretech Holdings Limited (formerly, Caretech Holdings PLC) was a publicly listed company.
From 27 Septernber 2022 onwards, the parent is Amaif Bidco Limited, a company incorparated ir United Kingdom whose
registered address is Metropofitan House, 3 Darkes Lane, Potters Bar, Hertfordshire ENG 1AG. Tha ultimate controlling party is
Amalfi Topco Limited, 3 Company incorporated in Jersey whose registered address is 47 Esplanade, St. Heiier, JE1 0BD.
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